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Firestone Diamonds plc
WE ARE A DIAMOND COMPANY FOCUSED  
ON OUR MAJOR ASSET IN LESOTHO.
Firestone is fully financed to complete the Liqhobong Mine Development  
Project, and beyond the expected first sale of diamonds in January 2017.

CONTINUED PROGRESS 
ON THE LIQHOBONG MINE 
DEVELOPMENT PROJECT 
IN LESOTHO.

PRODUCTION COMMENCED IN 
OCTOBER, SUBSEQUENT TO 
THE YEAR END.
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• Steel, mechanical, plate 
work and piping nearing 
completion

• 2,680,784 zero Lost Time Injury 
(“LTI”) hours recorded with 
zero‑LTI record maintained

• Production plant 18% 
commissioned

• Project completion at 85%  
at year end

• Project fully funded beyond 
the first sale of diamonds

• Capital investment 
of US$68.2 million 
(2015: US$82.9 million) in 
the Project during the year

• Profit after tax of US$13.6 million 
(2015: US$10.4 million loss)

• US$39.0 million of the 
ABSA project debt facility still 
available to the Project

• Standby facility of US$15.0 million 
available to the Project

• Initial production achieved in 
October 2016, with full production 
rates expected to take at least 
six months

• First diamond sales anticipated 
in January 2017

• Becoming a one million carat 
per annum producer

Project within 
budget of

US$185.4m

• Group fully funded beyond 
the first sale of diamonds 
in January 2017

In‑situ value 
(base case un‑escalated)

US$3.0bn

Liqhobong Diamond Resource 
(sum of Indicated and Inferred Resource)

23m carats

2016 Highlights Key statistics

LIQHOBONG DIAMOND MINE 
(“Liqhobong”, the “Project” or the “Mine”)

FINANCIAL

OUTLOOK

At full production, Liqhobong will produce  
one million carats per annum.
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A YEAR IN PICTURES 
JULY 2015 – JUNE 2016

At the end of June 2016, all 
accommodation units with the 
exception of two administration 
buildings were completed. The 
completed units accommodate 
approximately 420 persons with a total 
area of 7,315m2. Other completed 
buildings include a medical centre, 
gym and a recreational building.

Approximately 0.6 million m3 of earth and rock has been 
moved to construct the main plant terrace. It contains 
scrubbing, secondary crushing, tertiary crushing, degrit, 
desliming, dense media separators and sorthouse buildings. 
As at 30 June 2016 a total of 6,480m3 of the final forecast 
of 6,666m3 of concrete was poured. A total of 1,866 tonnes 
of steelwork and platework was installed since the 
commencement of structural mechanical plate work and 
piping installation in August 2015. Additionally, 70% of the 
flooring and over 50% of the piping was installed.

The RSF construction was completed ahead of schedule during April 2016. 
Approximately 1.5 million m3 of earth and rock was used to construct the starter 
wall, which will be raised over the life of mine of 15 years by the addition of 
coarse tailings and waste rock.

Accommodation and service buildings

Main plant terrace

Residual Storage Facility (“RSF”) starter wall
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In addition to construction activities 
on site during the year, operational 
readiness work also commenced 
in January 2016 to facilitate the 
commencement of production 
in October 2016. Recruitment 
commenced in January 2016 and at 
year end, 40 of the 200 positions in 
the Liqhobong structures were filled. 
By October, 72% of the workforce 
was in place with the final positions 
being filled as and when required.

The raw water dams are the treatment plant’s source of water. RWD1 has a capacity 
of 106,000m3 and RWD2 has a designed capacity of 220,000m3. Both dams are lined 
to ensure minimal loss through seepage. RWD1 was complete in October 2015 and 
RWD2 is scheduled for completion in November 2016. Process water is recycled 
through the thickener and the RSF dams to the raw water dam where finer material 
has time to settle to ensure that the treatment process receives good quality water.

Operational readiness

Raw water dam (“RWD1”) and the return water dam 2 (“RWD2”)

The front end consists of a reinforced earthwall, vibrating grizzly, apron feeder and 
one of the largest jaw crushers manufactured in South Africa. At 30 June 2016, all 
steelwork and platework was installed and 75% of the building was cladded. The 
jaw crusher is designed to deliver 500 tonnes per hour feed to the plant.

Run of Mine (“ROM”)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Since 2012, the Company has been solely focused on bringing 
our flagship Liqhobong Diamond Mine into production. I am 
delighted to report that this has been achieved ahead of the 
revised schedule and within budget. The Project has been 
very challenging in many respects; however, the team has 
never wavered from its goals. I am extremely proud of their 
performance and in particular the incredible safety record, 
indeed in August 2016, the Project surpassed three million 
man‑hours worked without a single LTI. This is an outstanding 
achievement and on behalf of the entire Board, I would 
like to congratulate Stuart Brown, Glenn Black, their team 
and all those involved in delivering this Project with such a 
safety record.

As we conclude the commissioning phase we move ever 
closer to realising our vision of becoming a mid‑tier diamond 
producer. In doing so, we expect to maximise value for our 
stakeholders in a sustainable manner, by operating with 
integrity, and leveraging local resources to the benefit of 
the Kingdom of Lesotho and the communities in which we 
operate as well as our shareholders and employees.

Firestone will soon be joining the short list of global 
producing diamond miners delivering one million carats per 
annum. This is a milestone the Company has been working 
towards achieving against the backdrop of an extremely 
challenging mining sector climate.

A brief look at history reminds us that this deposit was 
originally discovered in the 1950s and has been explored, 
evaluated and part developed over many years without 
success. It was not until Firestone, who acquired the 
Project from Kopane Diamonds in 2011, was restructured 
and Stuart Brown appointed in 2013, that Liqhobong really 
had the opportunity to achieve its full potential.

IT IS WITH A GREAT DEAL OF PRIDE 
THAT I WRITE TO YOU AS YOUR COMPANY 
EMBARKS ON ITS NEXT CHAPTER AS A 
DIAMOND PRODUCER.
Lucio Genovese
Non‑Executive Chairman

SUMMARY

• Next phase of Liqhobong achieved on budget 
and ahead of schedule

• Over three million man‑hours worked  
without LTIs

• On target for one million carats per annum

• Construction phase complete, moving 
into production
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As mentioned in the last Annual Report, Firestone’s focus for 
2016 has been delivering Liqhobong with the construction 
focus shifting from earth works and civils to erecting the 
plant and installing machinery. Board members have had the 
pleasure of visiting the site a number of times during the year 
and the progress the team has made has been exemplary. 

Over the last three months, Firestone has been preparing 
and working with the operational readiness team to ensure a 
smooth handover from the construction team. All the required 
planning and operational requirements have been catered for 
and we have the required operational team in place to ensure 
we move from the successful commissioning phase into steady 
state production. Firestone is endeavouring to mitigate all 
possible risks during this crucial stage of project delivery. 

Firestone anticipates that the ramp up process to full 
nameplate capacity will take at least six months. During 
this early stage of production, the ore being processed by 
the plant will be taken from mixed low grade stockpiles and 
diluted ore from the main pit. This is perfectly normal in the 
commissioning phase of a mine and the Company will update 
the market on a regular basis as it moves through the first 
phases of mining to establish a more representative mining 
footprint with ore processed across the main pit.

In September 2016, Tango Mining Limited (“Tango”) informed 
Firestone that it had not been able to meet the conditions of 
the conditional sale agreement for the BK11 mine. As a result, 
and following several extensions, the Company concluded that 
Tango would be unlikely to complete the funding requirement 
and accordingly, the sale process was terminated. The Company 
remains committed to seeking ways of advancing/unlocking 
value from its Botswana assets and will keep shareholders 
abreast of progress as appropriate.

Lastly, I would like to thank each and every individual that 
has contributed to Liqhobong’s success to date, and in 
particular the construction and operational leadership teams 
for their hard work. Without you, the construction of the new 
Mine at Liqhobong would not have been possible and I look 
forward to updating our shareholders and stakeholders over 
the coming months as Firestone transforms into a mid‑tier 
diamond producer.

Lucio Genovese
Non‑Executive Chairman

31 October 2016
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Introduction 

Firestone maintained its strategy over the past year as it 
continued its commitment to developing the Liqhobong 
Diamond Mine (“Liqhobong”) where the focus remained 
exclusively on construction activities. Once completed, 
Liqhobong will join the ranks of diamond producing 
companies, moving one step closer to realising its goal of 
becoming a mid‑tier, one million carat per annum producer. 

Liqhobong is owned 75% by Firestone with the Government of 
Lesotho holding the remaining 25%. The diamond deposit was 
first discovered in the late 1950s, and over the past 60 years it 
has been through a series of feasibility studies and trial mining 
phases, none of which proved to be financially viable. In 2010, 
Firestone acquired its 75% interest and successfully completed 
all the required work to finalise a detailed definitive feasibility 
study (“DFS”) and subsequently raised the necessary funds to 
begin building the Project in 2014.

Liqhobong commenced production in October 2016. 
At full production, Liqhobong will produce one million carats 
per annum, which would place it in the mid‑tier of diamond 
mines globally.

During 2015 the Company decided to sell its 90% interest 
in the BK11 mine in Botswana to Tango Mining Limited 
(TSXV: TGV) in order to focus solely on the development of 
Liqhobong. Tango was unable to fulfil the conditions of the sale 
and the process was formally terminated in September 2016. 
The Company remains of the view that the BK11 mine has 
value and will look at further options to realise this value.

Our vision

Firestone’s vision is to become a mid‑tier diamond 
producer and preferred and trusted partner of choice 
by all of its stakeholders and local communities alike.

STRATEGY

FIRESTONE SEEKS TO BECOME A MID‑TIER 
DIAMOND PRODUCER AND THE PREFERRED AND 
TRUSTED PARTNER OF CHOICE FOR ALL ITS 
STAKEHOLDERS AND LOCAL COMMUNITIES.
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FIRESTONE’S STRATEGY TO BECOME A MID‑TIER DIAMOND PRODUCER,  
PRODUCING ONE MILLION CARATS A YEAR, IS BASED ON:

SHAREHOLDER 
RETURNS

We have a strong team of highly experienced industry 
executives who have worked extensively in Africa 
and have an in‑depth understanding of project 

execution, diamond mining and the sector.

AFRICAN OPERATING EXPERIENCE

By demonstrating that our actions 
mirror our words, we will become 
a preferred investment vehicle for 

investors and partners in Africa.

TRUSTED EXPERTISE

The formation of a highly skilled 
and experienced management 
team, which is able to execute 
mine construction projects and 

operate mines to ensure the 
Company’s planned returns are 

realised for all stakeholders.

HIGH QUALITY MANAGEMENT

We create in‑country skills and capacity through 
careful recruitment of citizen employees who are 
then trained and deployed in front‑line positions, 

thereby realising the skills transfer requirements for 
our partner, the Government of Lesotho.

SKILLS DEVELOPMENT
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW

Liqhobong and the Project

The focus in 2016 remained on the construction and delivery 
of the Project in Lesotho. Construction activities developed 
from earth moving and site civil construction to plant and 
machinery erection for the majority of the 2016 financial 
year and I am pleased to report that by the year end we 
were slightly ahead of schedule on the revised timeline. The 
weather was relatively stable allowing us to build momentum 
on the construction execution. The Group employed a total 
of 61 full time employees and at the peak there were around 
1,000 contractors employed on the Project. The shift to 
specialist contractors took place towards the end of the year 
and we now employ fewer than 750 contractors on site. 
Operational capability was increased during the year prior 
to the commissioning phase of the Project.

From a cost perspective the Project remains well within the 
original US$185.4 million budget with nearly all the budget 
committed and agreed, greatly reducing the risk of cost 
over‑runs. Throughout the Project life cycle we have tried 
to manage our exchange rate risk, and pleasingly we have 
realised additional gains through the significant weakening of 
the Rand against the US Dollar. This has allowed us to bring 
forward some capital items that were in future capital budgets 
to de‑risk the Project at start‑up. Our original budget was 
ZAR1,854 million and now stands at ZAR2,100 million due to 
the inclusion of the earth moving cost over‑run, operational 
readiness and water risk mitigation. 

The safety performance for the Project has been remarkable 
and we have just completed another year without any LTIs. 
At the year end, 2.7 million man‑hours had been worked and by 
the end of September 2016, post the year end, over 3.2 million 
man‑hours had been worked without a single LTI. Safety 
performance, particularly considering the harsh environment 
and the nature of such a project is extremely pleasing and all 
team members are to be congratulated. Zero harm remains the 
target and the new operational team are integrating all new 
employees into our procedures and safety practices to ensure 
that the excellent culture of safety, which has been adopted 
during the construction phase, carries over into operations.

CONSTRUCTION ACTIVITIES DEVELOPED 
FROM EARTH MOVING AND SITE CIVIL 
CONSTRUCTION TO PLANT AND MACHINERY 
ERECTION FOR MOST OF THE 2016 
FINANCIAL YEAR.
Stuart Brown
Chief Executive Officer

SUMMARY

• The Group employed a total of 
61 full time employees

• Operational capability was increased during 
the year prior to the commissioning phase of 
the project

• Realised additional gains through the 
significant weakening of the Maloti against 
the US Dollar

• Safety performance is extremely pleasing and 
all team members are to be congratulated
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The Company commenced initial production during 
October 2016 and is targeting January 2017 for its first sale 
of diamonds.

The Company has managed its funding carefully and had 
US$39.0 million remaining from the ABSA debt facility at the 
year end as well as the US$15.0 million standby facility with 
RCF, to fund the remaining Project costs and any potential 
cost over‑runs or delays. 

Grid power project

The grid power project for Liqhobong was completed early in 
the financial year and successful switchover to the national 
grid occurred in October 2015. The promised savings have 
been achieved due to the early switchover and the contribution 
from Storm Mountain Diamonds was also successfully 
completed.

Project commissioning

The operational readiness team refined detailed mine plans and 
recruited the required staff to ensure there is a smooth start‑up 
and successful commissioning of all the operational activities 
on the Mine. The recruitment of the additional operational 
staff required to ensure that production ramp up is smooth 
is in place. Skills remain scarce in Lesotho, however, we have 
committed to achieving our goal of maximising local Basotho 
recruitment where possible and we have engaged with all our 
contractors to retain the best skills from the construction phase 
of the Project to ensure operational continuity where possible.

Diamond Resource and Reserve update for Liqhobong

Diamond Resource

The Diamond Resource remains the same as released in 
2015 as we have yet to commence mining so no changes 
were necessary. 

SAMREC compliant Diamond Resource statement for Liqhobong Main Pipe as at 30 September 2015 (including Reserves)
 Diamond Resource

    Volume in m3 Specific gravity Metric tonnes Grade  Carats 
Diamond Resource Category   Depth from and to (millions) (tonnes/m3) (millions) (cpht) (millions)

Indicated   Surface (2,650 masl) to 2,467 masl 13.547 2.61 35.364 27 9.533

Inferred   2,467 masl to 2,127 masl 18.135 2.65 48.064 28 13.553

Total Diamond Resource   31.682 2.63 83.428 28 23.086

• The above Diamond Resource is stated at a 1.25mm bottom cut‑off.
• The weighted average diamond price per carat is estimated at US$132/ct.
• Tonnes are metric tonnes and totals are rounded.

Diamond Reserve

SAMREC compliant Diamond Reserve statement for the Liqhobong Main Pipe as at 30 September 2015
 Diamond Reserve

      Metric tonnes Grade  Carats 
Diamond Reserve Category     Depth from and to (millions) (cpht) (millions)

Probable     Surface (2,650 masl) to 2,467 masl 36.046 26.4 9.523

Total Diamond Reserve      36.046 26.4 9.523

• The above Diamond Reserve is stated at a 1.25mm bottom cut‑off.
• The weighted average diamond price per carat is estimated at US$131/ct.
• Reserve tonnes and grade include dilution as a result of external waste.
• Tonnes are metric tonnes and totals are rounded.

Further detailed information on the Diamond Resource and Diamond Reserve, which have been prepared in accordance with 
SAMREC guidelines (2009), can be found within the Company’s internal Technical Report. The internal Technical Report does not 
constitute a Competent Person’s Report as defined in the AIM Rules.
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Diamond market

The diamond market over the latter part of 2015 and early 
2016 remained relatively subdued with the major producers 
seeming to have slightly reduced the quantity of goods 
entering the rough market. This has helped improve sentiment 
and the pipeline seems to have balanced itself somewhat 
when compared to early 2015. Polished prices have remained 
under pressure with some categories of polished doing better 
than others based on fluctuating supply and demand. The net 
result of all the movement is that the market experienced a 
better first half of 2016 when compared to the same period in 
2015. However, the mood remains cautious for the remainder 
of 2016 even though prices seem to have stabilised, albeit, at 
levels well below the peak of late 2014. Funding and liquidity 
concerns within the midstream market remain, but sales seem 
to be executed where price is reasonable. We expect the new 
production that will come on stream late in 2016 and early 
in 2017 to be balanced somewhat by the impact of some 
mine closures (in particular, Snap Lake) and the reduction of 
supply from ageing mines. Commodities remain under pressure 
compared to the boom years but we have seen more price 
stability in 2016, although further shocks such as the Brexit 
decision have not helped. China retail performance numbers 
have been subdued and overall, the global value of diamond 
jewellery sold in 2015 was slightly lower than the previous 
year at $79 billion. The supply/demand fundamentals of the 
diamond industry are still favourable when taking a long‑term 
view as they indicate an increase in demand and declining 
production. The major producers, De Beers, Alrosa, Rio Tinto 
and Dominion Diamonds along with the mid‑tier producers, 
have continued to work to retain the confidence in the industry 
which we view as positive in the long term.

Botswana

Throughout the 2016 financial year, Management worked 
to complete the sale of its Botswana assets to Tango 
Mining Limited, a TSXV‑listed mining company, for a 
total consideration of US$8.0 million in cash. Numerous 
extensions were granted to Tango in order to finalise its 
funding arrangements and a final extension was requested in 
September 2016. After careful consideration of all the facts, we 
concluded that Tango would be unlikely to complete its funding 
in a reasonable timeframe and we had to bring the process to 
a close. We remain committed to unlocking shareholder value 
from this asset in the future. 

Conclusion and outlook

During the year ended June 2016, we continued to focus on the 
construction of the Mine ahead of the commissioning of the 
Project during Q4 2016. It was therefore with great pride that, 
following the completion of all major construction activities, 
we were able to announce that the first diamonds have been 
recovered early this month, which was a significant milestone 
for the Company.

The Project has required considerable effort from all involved 
and it is a testament to their work that the Project has been 
delivered ahead of the revised schedule and within budget. 
The construction team remains committed to completing the 
Project as the operational team starts to ramp up production 
to full nameplate capacity, being 3.6 million tonnes per annum 
or 500 tonnes per hour to recover up to one million carats per 
annum, over the next six months. On this basis, we currently 
anticipate treating between 1.8 and 2.0 million tonnes of ore, 
recovering between 380,000 and 450,000 carats, during the 
financial year ending 30 June 2017.

The Company’s first diamond sale is scheduled to take place 
in Antwerp in January 2017 and thereafter, we propose to 
host two sales per quarter. During the initial ramp‑up phase, 
ore from mixed low grade stockpiles and diluted ore from the 
main pit will be processed through the plant which will have an 
impact on the quality of diamonds recovered. As we progress 
with the ramp up of production and begin treating run‑of‑mine 
ore from the main pit, we expect that the quality and size 
of the diamonds recovered will improve. Accordingly, I look 
forward to updating all our stakeholders as we move through 
the ramp‑up phase to nameplate production. 

I wish to thank all those involved in the Project, our 
shareholders, our employees and contractors and the local 
community in and around Liqhobong village, without whom 
the successful completion of the Project and start‑up of the 
Mine would not have been possible.

Stuart Brown
Chief Executive Officer

31 October 2016

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW continued
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SAFETY, HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITY

Safety

Firestone strives to provide its employees with a safe and 
healthy workplace and it is therefore gratifying to be able to 
report another fatality‑free and LTI‑free year at its subsidiary, 
Liqhobong. At the end of the 2016 financial year there were 
779 people working on the Liqhobong Mine site of which 
68% were Basotho nationals. The Project employed well over 
1,000 people at its peak. Firestone appointed DRA Minerals in 
2014 as the lead engineering, procurement and construction 
management contractor to manage all construction activities 
and sub‑contractors and to be responsible for the safety 
management system on the site. Since the start of the Project 
in July 2014 to the end of June 2016, the Project recorded 
a total of 2,680,784 LTI‑free man‑hours worked, which is a 
significant achievement. We are very proud to report that 
the 3,000,000 man‑hours milestone worked without a LTI 
was achieved on 2 September 2016. This is a phenomenal 
achievement for a construction project of this magnitude, 
situated in a very remote location and harsh environment in 
the Highlands of Lesotho. We believe our safety approach ranks 
with the best globally and our results speak for themselves.

The safety management system encourages a culture of 
incident and near‑miss reporting, which are categorised 
according to potential severity and actioned accordingly. 
All non‑LTIs (first aid cases) are investigated and preventative 
actions put in place as appropriate.

The current focus is to ensure a smooth safety management 
transition between the Project construction teams and the 
Liqhobong operational team.

Health

The health of employees and contractors is of the utmost 
importance to Firestone. A new fully equipped clinic was 
opened during the 2016 financial year at the Liqhobong 
Mine. The new clinic has seven beds, two consulting rooms, 
a dispensary and two medical supply store rooms. The clinic 
is permanently manned by a qualified paramedic. The clinic’s 
monthly statistics are analysed for trends and appropriate 
action is taken as required.

The clinic has a fully equipped ambulance that can be used 
to transport patients to the nearest hospital if required. 
For serious injuries a helicopter casualty evacuation plan is 
in place. 

Environment

Firestone is committed to minimising its impact on the 
environments in which it operates. It is therefore pleasing 
to report that no major environmental incidents were 
recorded at the Liqhobong construction site during the 
financial year. Liqhobong’s Environmental Management 
Plan (“EMP”) was updated to reflect the latest operating 
parameters and mitigation actions. These were submitted to 
the Department of Environment (“DOE”) during the year and 
were subsequently approved. 

At an operating level, Liqhobong’s environmental focus 
continues to be on waste management, water monitoring, 
incident reporting and auditing of contractor activities. 
The Company adopted a waste segregation at source policy 
which allows for the separation and collection of recyclable 
and hazardous material that are removed and disposed of by 
accredited service providers. 

Surface water samples are collected monthly and analysed for 
bacterial and chemical content. Water sampling points include 
drinking water sources as well as control points upstream 
and downstream of the mine. The results are compared 
against the South African National Standards (“SANS”) and 
all anomalies are investigated and action taken accordingly. 
Liqhobong collaborates and shares water sampling results 
with stakeholders such as the Lesotho Highlands Development 
Agency, the Department of Water Affairs and the DOE.

Community

Firestone and its subsidiary, Liqhobong are committed to 
Corporate Social Investment (“CSI”) as an integral part 
of a sustainable social development programme for the 
empowerment and economic upliftment of their host 
communities. Among the Company’s most important 
stakeholders are the communities that live in close proximity 
to the Mine, the two villages of Liqhobong and Pulane. 
Over time, these communities have seen previous companies 
and management teams come and go and were initially 
sceptical and distrustful of the new Liqhobong operational 
management team. However, through an ongoing engagement 
process and ethos of delivering on promises, the project and 
management teams have improved relationships. In addition 
to daily interaction between Liqhobong officers and villagers, 
there is a formal monthly meeting between the management 
team and the Liqhobong Working Committee (“LWC”) which 
represents the two villages. A grievance process was in place 
since the commencement of the Project in 2014. Grievances 
are logged, investigated and resolved.



Strategic Report

|  Firestone Diamonds plc Annual Report and Accounts 201612

SAFETY, HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITY continued

Relocation

A total of 24 families residing in the Liqhobong village were 
identified for relocation as a precautionary measure due 
to their proximity to the new residual storage facility dam 
wall. New houses were built, and to date 15 of the families 
have been relocated. Currently the construction of kraals 
and rondavels, and stabilisation of platforms, are in progress 
at the remainder of the properties to ensure that facilities 
at the new sites are equivalent to those at the original sites. 
The target date for completion is the end of 2016.

Compensation

Construction of a new 6km access road to the Mine at the 
start of the Project affected a number of croplands. Liqhobong 
negotiated an annual compensation amount for the affected 
farmers based on a crop production analysis study that was 
conducted by an independent consultant. 

A portion of the mining lease is in the process of being fenced 
in and an annual compensation amount was agreed with the 
local community at the end of 2015 for the loss of grazing 
land. This compensation amount was also calculated by an 
independent consultant and based on the Lesotho Highlands 
Water Project formula used previously in Lesotho. The first 
annual payment will be made during 2016 once the fence is 
complete. Payments will be used to fund projects which are 
in the interests of the communities as a whole. A decision will 
be taken in collaboration with the LWC as to which projects 
should be undertaken.

Recruitment

A significant positive contribution to the local people living 
close to the Mine is the provision of long‑term employment 
once the Mine commences production. Liqhobong has 
committed to giving local communities first priority in respect 
of unskilled positions. Job advertisements are translated into 
Sesotho, the local language, and distributed to the eight villages 
in the vicinity of the Mine. The recruitment process will be 
completed by early 2017.

Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) projects

Firestone has committed to making funds available for 
community upliftment projects once the Mine goes into 
production and profits are being generated. Notwithstanding 
this commitment, the Company has decided to embark on 
two projects during 2016 prior to production. The first project 
was motivated by the need of the Liqhobong community 
for a pre‑primary school. After a consultation process, plans 
were finalised, a local builder was appointed and construction 
commenced during September 2016.

Another very important project that commenced is the 
sustainable supply of drinking water to the two villages 
adjacent to the mine. In collaboration with the Department 
of Rural Water Supply, Liqhobong completed a survey and 
assessment of all the natural water points in the two villages 
and determined that there is sufficient yield to support the 
installation of a communal tap system. This project will 
commence in the latter part of 2016 and is expected to be 
completed during 2017.

Conclusion

After a challenging two‑year period of construction, the Project 
is nearing completion and we are now entering the operational 
phase of the Mine life. The Company intends to operate the 
Mine for many years to come and our commitment is to 
continually achieve exceptional standards when it comes to the 
safety of our employees, the care of environments in which we 
operate and beneficial engagement with the local communities 
that are situated close to our operations.
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RISK REVIEW

FIRESTONE’S FOCUS IS THE SUCCESSFUL EXECUTION OF THE LIQHOBONG  
MINE PROJECT IN LESOTHO.

The Project entails the construction and commissioning of a new main treatment plant capable of treating 500 tonnes per hour, 
as well as the required infrastructure to ensure that the mine successfully operates over its planned life and once built, operates 
at the designed specification to deliver the anticipated returns.

The Company is exposed to a number of risks and uncertainties, which, if they occur, could have a material impact on 
the successful achievement of its goals. Management of these risks and uncertainties is a key function of the Board and 
management of the Company.

The following risks have been identified as the main risks that could potentially impact on the Company achieving its goals:

Strategic risk
Retention of key personnel

The Company is heavily reliant on a 
small group of key staff to achieve its 
objectives.

External risk
Country and political risk

Liqhobong is situated in Lesotho and 
BK11 in Botswana, both southern 
African countries. Whilst Botswana has 
been politically stable over its history 
the same is not true for Lesotho. 
Lesotho is currently experiencing a 
period of political instability. This is 
not uncommon in emerging markets 
which can be subject to greater 
volatility and political risk.

Operational risk
Health, safety, environmental 
and community risk

Failure to comply with any of the 
legislative or social requirements 
would cause a delay or suspension 
of the Company’s operational 
activities in Lesotho or Botswana.

Responsibility

The Board carries the responsibility 
through its Executive Directors, the 
Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination Committee to ensure 
appropriate remuneration structures 
are adequate to attract and retain 
staff with the required skills and 
experience to ensure that the project 
and operational requirements are met.

Responsibility

The responsibility for managing this 
risk lies with Executive Management.

Responsibility

The Executive Directors and 
the Safety, Health, Environment 
and Corporate Social 
Responsibility Committee.

Mitigation

Firestone believes that it has 
mitigated this risk by implementing 
competitive remuneration structures, 
which includes a balance of fixed 
and variable remuneration based 
on the key performance indicators 
for individuals as well as the Group 
as a whole, and practices to attract 
appropriate individuals to the team.

Mitigation

The Firestone team has extensive 
experience of operating in southern 
Africa. The Company keeps in close 
contact with representatives of the 
Government in Lesotho to ensure 
it keeps abreast of all political and 
regulatory developments. The political 
changes and developments in Lesotho 
during 2016 have not materially 
disrupted the Company’s operations 
directly but they do cause uncertainty 
with international investors and other 
interested and affected parties. The 
situation is managed as closely as 
possible under the circumstances and 
will continue to be monitored.

Mitigation

Liqhobong, under the leadership 
and direction of Firestone is 
able to operate to the highest 
standards possible. The operational 
team remains very thorough in 
the execution of its strategy in 
engaging with the local community 
in Liqhobong as well as local and 
central government representatives 
to manage expectations and 
requirements. These relationships 
are maintained and monitored on a 
regular basis.
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RISK REVIEW continued

Operational risk
Project delivery risk

Should the Company not achieve 
Project completion on time and on 
budget, there may be an impact on 
the Group’s ability to complete the 
Project with existing cash and debt 
facilities, which could result in a 
further funding requirement.

Operational risk
Production start‑up risk

Commissioning a new plant is 
often very difficult and can cause 
additional expenditure requirements 
and delays to revenue if not well 
planned and managed.

Operational risk
Water supply risk

Southern Africa, including Lesotho, 
is still experiencing the after effects 
of one of the worst droughts 
in recent history. The limited 
availability for water storage 
facilities in the Liqhobong valley 
poses a risk to normal operations of 
the production plant. 

Responsibility

The Executive Directors and the 
Chief Project Officer.

Responsibility

The Executive Management and 
operational team.

Responsibility

The Executive Directors and the 
Executive Management.

Mitigation

The Company has assembled an 
experienced team, which has a track 
record of successful project delivery in 
the diamond industry.

The engineering, procurement and 
contract management partner also 
has extensive experience in the 
diamond industry and importantly, 
a history of working in the Lesotho 
Highlands.

The Project design has been selected 
to mitigate time over‑runs and is 
closely monitored and measured by 
the Project Management Steering 
Committee.

The Group has a US$15.0 million 
standby facility in place provided by 
Resource Capital Fund VI L.P., one of 
its significant shareholders.

Mitigation

The commissioning process has been 
planned to be very thorough with all 
installed equipment extensively tested 
and operated prior to the start of the 
commissioning phases. Operational 
staff have been recruited early to 
ensure a smooth handover between 
the construction and operational 
teams on site. Stockpiled ore is 
available for processing during the 
first month of ramp up production. 
The operations team has been 
carefully selected for its experience 
and knowledge of the site conditions.

Mitigation

Efforts to mitigate the risk for the 
longer term are focused on improved 
water recycling, enlarging the storage 
capacity of the satellite pit, making 
use of the main pit water and 
constructing an additional storage 
dam on site. Water collection, storage 
and use is a key priority for the 
management team. Additional water 
reduction and recycling options are 
continuously considered.
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Currency risk
Foreign currency exposure risk

The Company is exposed to currency 
risk as a result of its operations in 
various jurisdictions which include 
Lesotho, South Africa, Botswana 
and the UK. The most substantial 
currency risk for the Group relates 
to the Project and operating costs 
which are incurred in South African 
Rand (“Rand”) and Lesotho Maloti 
(“Maloti”), which is pegged to the 
Rand, from funds raised through a 
combination of US Dollars (“USD”) or 
(“US$”) and Pounds Sterling (“GBP”) 
or (“£”) and revenues from the sale of 
diamonds denominated in US Dollars. 
Should the Rand, which is a volatile 
emerging market currency, strengthen 
against the US$ or £ beyond the 
budgeted rates, the Group could have 
a potential funding shortfall.

Financial risk
Financing risk

The Company raised what it believes 
to be sufficient funding through a 
combination of debt and equity, to 
fund the Group beyond the expected 
first sale of diamonds in January 2017. 
A project cost over‑run or a delay in 
commissioning of the Project or first 
diamond sale could lead to a further 
funding requirement.

Operational risk
Electricity supply risk

Liqhobong is connected to the 
Lesotho National Power Grid 
through a 132kW power line 
constructed as part of the power 
project. The power line stretches 
28km from the Ha Lejone substation 
over mountainous terrain and is 
susceptible to lightning strikes. 
These can and do lead to power 
supply interruptions to the Mine. 
Power supply interruptions thus 
pose a risk to mine operations. 

Responsibility

The Executive Directors, Audit 
Committee and Senior Management.

Responsibility

The Executive Directors, the 
Audit Committee and the Senior 
Management.

Responsibility

The Executive Management and 
Electrical Engineering Department 
on the Mine site.

Mitigation

The Company monitors the 
movement of the Rand against the 
US Dollar and Pound Sterling very 
closely. During the construction 
phase the Company has mitigated 
the risk and indeed benefited from 
the deterioration of local currency 
and has used the Company’s hedging 
policy to lock in rates above those 
expected to ensure certainty. 
A number of hedging contracts were 
entered into during the financial year, 
thereby reducing the risk of a shortfall 
in funding to an acceptable level.

Mitigation

Management has prepared detailed 
capital expenditure plans and budgets 
for the construction and operations 
phases of the Project. The Company 
has also implemented a detailed 
cash and expenditure monitoring 
system to ensure that expenditure 
remains within approved capital 
and contingency budgets. Cash flow 
planning is continually updated 
to take into account historic cash 
outflow against budget, exchange 
rate movements as well as budget 
shifts. The Audit Committee considers 
cash flow forecasts on a regular 
basis to ensure that the Company is 
adequately funded. Project spending 
is tightly controlled and managed. 
Expenditure on the Project has been 
very close to budget and there is a high 
level of confidence in the remaining 
expenditure forecast. In addition, the 
Company has access to a further 
US$15.0 million standby facility to 
fund any over‑runs on the Project.

Mitigation

A power factor correction unit was 
installed on site, which manages 
constant power supply to the Mine 
site and eliminates any power 
surges. A close relationship with the 
Lesotho Electricity Company has been 
established with its representatives 
planned to be permanently based on 
site when production commences. 
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RISK REVIEW continued

Market risk
Diamond price risk

The Group is exposed to a number 
of factors affecting rough diamond 
prices. These range from oversupply 
of rough diamonds, polished 
diamond price weakness, man‑made 
(synthetic) diamonds, currency risk 
as diamonds are priced in US Dollars 
and a slowdown in the growth of the 
global diamond retail market. 

Interest rate risk
Floating interest rate 
exposure risk

The Group is exposed to risk posed by 
floating interest rates charged on the 
Project’s debt facilities. Rising interest 
rates pose a risk to the Group’s cash 
flow, which could lead to the Group 
not being able to meet its operational 
and debt covenant cash requirements. 

Responsibility

The Executive Directors, Management 
and the Audit Committee.

Responsibility

The Executive Directors, Audit 
Committee and Senior Management.

Mitigation

The diamond prices used in the 
financial model and budget for the 
year ended 30 June 2017 are based 
on conservative forecasts, and no 
upside for the recovery of large or 
special stones was taken into account 
in these models. This ensures that 
modelled cash flow is robust and 
leaves a margin of safety between 
base cash requirements and expected 
cash received.

Mitigation

By applying the Group’s hedging 
policy the Group has entered into 
floating‑to‑fixed interest swaps for a 
portion of the debt, which will ensure 
that the interest remains fixed for the 
duration of the debt facilities. 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results for the year ended 30 June 2016 reflect the Group’s 
focus on the Liqhobong Project. The Group generated a profit 
after tax of US$13.6 million. However, this resulted from the 
recognition of tax credits of US$22.6 million, which, if excluded, 
present a loss of US$9.0 million compared with the prior 
year loss of US$10.4 million, a more appropriate comparison 
presenting a slight improvement year on year. The Group had 
no revenue from the sale of diamonds as it was still developing 
its Liqhobong mine during the 2016 financial year.

Our aim is to ensure that the Project completes during 
Q4 2016 within the original US$185.4 million budget and 
at the year end, the Group was well on track to achieve this, 
having reached 85% completion at the end of June 2016. Costs 
across the Group are well controlled, particularly those related 
to the Project where the team has performed exceptionally.

Whilst the Project has undeniably benefited from the 
weakness in the Rand, there was no guarantee at the time the 
funding was secured that the Rand would continue to devalue 
and this presented a risk which had to be managed accordingly. 
The Group entered into a series of currency contracts which 
mitigated this risk, the success of which is clearly evident. 
As at the year end, additional Project costs of ZAR240 million 
have all been funded from foreign exchange gains through 
effective treasury management. ZAR156 million was related to 
increased overburden and adverse weather delays experienced 
in the early part of construction and ZAR84 million related to 
risk mitigation items which include increased water storage 
capacity on site.

During the year, funding of US$73.4 million was received. 
Liqhobong commenced drawdown from the ABSA project 
debt facility in September 2015 and received US$43.4 million 
during the year, and US$30.0 million in net proceeds was 
received from the issue of Eurobonds by the Company. This 
funding, together with opening cash of US$17.6 million 
was sufficient to cover Project and other operating costs of 
US$77.6 million and US$3.4 million in corporate overheads.

At the year end, the Group had cash and remaining debt 
facilities of US$49.3 million with a further US$40.3 million 
to be spent on the Project and corporate expenses leaving 
headroom of US$9.0 million excluding the US$15.0 million 
standby facility.

The funding structure as at the year end is sufficient to fund 
the Group beyond its first sale of diamonds, which is expected 
to take place in January 2017.

THE RESULTS REFLECT SIGNIFICANT 
PROGRESS TOWARDS PROJECT 
COMPLETION AND PRESENT A ROBUST 
FINANCIAL POSITION SUFFICIENT TO 
FUND THE GROUP’S ACTIVITIES BEYOND 
THE EXPECTED FIRST SALE OF DIAMONDS 
IN JANUARY 2017.
Grant Ferriman
Chief Financial Officer

SUMMARY

• 85% Project construction complete

• US$142.0 million spent against a total  
Project budget of US$185.4 million

• ZAR240 million of additional project 
costs funded by cash gains from effective 
treasury management

• Eurobonds of US$30.0 million issued 
during the year

• US$43.4 million utilised against the ABSA 
project debt facility during the year

• US$15.0 million standby facility available 
to the Group

• Sufficient cash on hand and debt facilities in 
place beyond the expected first diamond sale 
in January 2017
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

Statement of profit and loss
 Liqhobong BK11† Corporate Total
   
US$ million  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Other income  0.5 — — — — — 0.5 —

Administrative expenses  0.4 0.5 — — — — 0.4 0.5

Care and maintenance expenses — — 0.5 0.5 — — 0.5 0.5

Corporate expenses  — — — — 3.4 3.6 3.4 3.6

Depreciation and amortisation 0.6 — 1.8 — — 0.1 2.4 0.1

Impairment losses  — — — 2.6 — — — 2.6

Share‑based payments  — — — — 0.8 0.8 0.8 0.8

Rehabilitation provision  — — — 0.1 — — — 0.1

Loss before finance charges (0.5) (0.5) (2.3) (3.2) (4.2) (4.5) (7.0) (8.2)

Finance income  0.1 — — — — 0.1 0.1 0.1

Finance cost  (1.8) — — — (0.3) (2.3) (2.1) (2.3)

Loss before tax  (2.2) (0.5) (2.3) (3.2) (4.5) (6.7) (9.0) (10.4)

Deferred tax credit  22.6 — — — — — 22.6 —

Profit/(loss) after tax  20.4 (0.5) (2.3) (3.2) (4.5) (6.7) 13.6 (10.4)

† This business segment was classified as held for sale as at 30 June 2015. As at 30 June 2016 the requirements to recognise the assets as held for sale 
were not met resulting in reclassification to continuing operations.

The Group generated a profit after tax for the year of 
US$13.6 million compared with a loss in the previous year 
of US$10.4 million. The main contributing factor is a tax 
credit of US$22.6 million in the current year which resulted 
from recognising the benefit of tax losses brought forward 
from previous years, the reason for which is discussed further 
in the report. The loss before tax therefore presents a more 
appropriate comparison of the financial performance of the 
Group for the year, where the loss reduced by US$1.4 million 
to US$9.0 million (2015: US$10.4 million). As reported 
previously, all costs incurred that relate directly to the 
Project are capitalised to the cost of the asset as reflected 
in the Statement of Financial Position. The loss for the 
Group excluding Liqhobong decreased by US$3.1 million 
to US$6.8 million (2015: US$9.9 million), mainly due to a 
reduction in losses on foreign exchange. 

It is pleasing to note that cash costs for the Group have been 
contained during the year and that the cost of the Project 
remains within the original US$185.4 million budget.

Liqhobong

The Group was firmly focused on the Project during the 
year, which reached 85% completion at year end. Liqhobong 
generated a profit of US$20.4 million for the year compared 
to a loss of US$0.5 million in the previous year. From an 
operational perspective, excluding the benefit of the tax 
credit which is explained below, the loss before income tax 
increased by US$1.7 million to US$2.2 million for the year 
(2015: US$0.5 million) as a result of foreign exchange losses of 
US$1.8 million which were offset by savings on administrative 
expenses of US$0.1 million. Finance costs of US$1.8 million 
during the year (2015: US$nil) comprise foreign exchange 
losses on currency contracts which were entered into in order 
to protect the Project budget rate of ZAR10:US$1. Although 
an average rate of ZAR11.92:US$1 was achieved, which is 
favourable when compared to the Project budget rate of 
ZAR10:US$1, revaluation of the contracts resulted in a book loss. 

Liqhobong recognises a tax credit of US$22.6 million which 
relates to the tax benefit of losses incurred in prior years. The 
benefit is recognised in the current year as there are reasonable 
grounds upon which to expect that profits will be generated in 
the future which can be offset against the tax losses brought 
forward. Based on current forecasts the Group expects to 
deplete the tax losses over the next four years.

BK11

On 9 September 2016 the Group was informed by Tango 
Mining Limited that it has not been able to meet the 
conditions of the sale agreement entered into on 9 July 2015 
for the disposal of its Botswana operations. The Group classified 
its Botswana operations as a held for sale asset in the 2015 
Annual Report. As the conditions to classify these assets as held 
for sale are no longer met, the Board decided to reclassify the 
Botswana operations to continuing operations.

Subsequent to being reclassified to continuing operations, the 
loss for the year decreased by US$0.9 million to US$2.3 million 
(2015: US$3.2 million). The reduction in the loss is due to 
the depreciation charge in the current year of US$1.8 million, 
which is being offset by the impairment loss recognised in the 
previous year of US$2.6 million. The ongoing cost of care and 
maintenance remained consistent at US$0.5 million.

Corporate 

The loss at corporate level decreased by US$2.2 million to 
US$4.5 million (2015: US$6.7 million) mainly as a result of a 
reduced loss on foreign exchange of US$2.0 million. Corporate 
expenses of US$3.4 million for the year reduced slightly from 
US$3.6 million in the previous year.
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Statement of financial position
 Liqhobong BK11† Corporate Total
   
US$ million  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Assets        

Non‑current assets        

Property, plant and  
equipment  170.4 121.2 6.6 9.0 0.1 0.1 177.1 130.3

Deferred tax  20.2 — — — — — 20.2 —

Loan receivable  2.8 — — — — — 2.8 —

Current assets        

Current assets  
(excluding cash)  3.6 13.6 0.1 0.1 — 0.2 3.7 13.9

Cash equivalents  6.7 4.5 0.1 0.1 3.5 13.0 10.3 17.6

  203.7 139.3 6.8 9.2 3.6 13.3 214.1 161.8

Liabilities        

Non‑current liabilities        

Borrowings  27.8 — — — 22.2 — 50.0 —

Rehabilitation provisions  2.0 1.7 1.3 1.4 — — 3.3 3.1

Deferred tax  — 3.5 — — — — — 3.5

Current liabilities        

Borrowings  4.7 — — — — — 4.7 —

Other current liabilities  14.7 19.4 0.2 0.1 1.5 1.0 16.4 20.5

  49.2 24.6 1.5 1.5 23.7 1.0 74.4 27.1

Equity value  154.5 114.7 5.3 7.7 (20.1) 12.3 139.7 134.7

† This business segment was classified as held for sale as at 30 June 2015. As at 30 June 2016 the requirements to recognise the assets as held for sale 
were not met resulting in reclassification to continuing operations.

The Group’s equity balance increased by US$5.0 million to 
US$139.7 million (2015: US$134.7 million). Increases in 
equity of US$26.7 million included profit of US$13.6 million, 
an increase in non‑controlling interest of US$4.4 million 
and warrants issued of US$7.6 million together with a share 
premium of US$1.1 million in relation to the Eurobond facility. 
Decreases in equity of US$21.7 million included foreign 
exchange translation losses of US$20.3 million and other 
reserves of US$1.4 million. Foreign exchange translation losses 
reflect the impact of the Group’s assets and liabilities which 
are mainly denominated in currencies other than the US Dollar, 
particularly the Lesotho Maloti, which is pegged at 1:1 to the 
Rand and which devalued against the US Dollar during the year 
by 20.3% to ZAR14.77:US$1 (2015: ZAR12.28:US$1), resulting 
in lower values being reported in US Dollar terms. 

Non‑current assets increased by US$69.8 million to 
US$200.1 million (2015: US$130.3 million). The value of 
property, plant and equipment increased by US$46.8 million 
to US$177.1 million (2015: US$130.3 million). The current 
year’s movement consists of Project costs of US$71.9 million 
offset by a depreciation charge of US$1.9 million and foreign 
exchange translation losses of US$22.6 million and includes 
a reclassification of Botswana operations of US$0.6 million 
from discontinued operations. The Group recognises a deferred 
tax asset of US$23.1 million in respect of the benefit that the 
Group will receive from tax losses incurred in previous years. 
The deferred tax liability of US$2.9 million was offset against 
the deferred tax asset resulting in a net deferred tax asset of 
US$20.2 million. 

The value of current assets decreased by US$17.5 million 
to US$14.0 million (2015: US$31.5 million) as a result of a 
US$7.3 million decrease in cash balances and a decrease in 
trade and other receivables of US$10.2 million. Trade and 
other receivables decreased as currency contracts matured 
and deposits were released. 

The value of non‑current liabilities increased by 
US$46.7 million to US$53.3 million (2015: US$6.6 million) 
mainly as a result of an increase in borrowings of 
US$50.0 million. During the year, the Group accessed total 
funding of US$73.4 million comprising US$43.4 million of the 
total US$82.4 million ABSA debt facility and US$30.0 million 
through the issue of Eurobonds by the Company. The funds 
raised were applied to Project construction costs and other 
Group operating costs. 

Finance costs paid in advance of US$9.9 million for the ABSA 
debt facility and US$7.9 million in respect to warrants issued 
in connection with the Eurobonds have been allocated to each 
of the debt facilities and are to be amortised over the life of 
the facilities. This resulted in an effective interest rate for the 
Eurobond of 12.33% and 9.60% for the ABSA debt facility 
as at 30 June 2016. 
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FINANCIAL REVIEW continued

Current liabilities increased by US$0.6 million to 
US$21.1 million (2015: US$20.5 million), as a result 
of a US$4.1 million reduction in creditors’ balances 
offset by an increase of US$4.7 million in borrowings 
which are due for payment within the next twelve months. 

Liqhobong is in the final stages of development and work 
is centred around pipework, steel work and electrical and 
instrumentation where spend is at a lower level compared 
with the previous year when substantial amounts of 
earthworks and initial construction work was underway.

Cash flow statement 
 Liqhobong BK11† Corporate Total
   
US$ million  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Opening cash at 1 July  4.7 15.9 0.1 — 12.8 91.1 17.6 107.0

Operations  4.0 0.6 (0.5) (0.4) (3.1) (4.6) 0.4 (4.4)

Operating cash flow adjusted  
for non‑cash items  (2.2) (0.5) (0.5) (0.5) (3.4) (3.6) (6.1) (4.6)

Change in working capital 6.2 1.1 — 0.1 0.3 (1.0) 6.5 0.2

Capital development  (68.2) (82.9) — — — 0.2 (68.2) (82.7)

Capital expenditure  (68.2) (82.9) — — — — (68.2) (82.9)

Proceeds from disposal  
of subsidiaries  — — — — — 0.2 — 0.2

Cash financing  67.0 72.9 0.5 0.5 (6.2) (73.8) 61.3 (0.4)

Minority contribution  — 1.9 — — — — — 1.9

Loans received  43.4 — — — 30.0 — 73.4 —

Finance income  0.1 — — — — — 0.1 —

Finance cost  (10.5) — — — (1.5) (2.3) (12.0) (2.3)

Dividends paid to minorities (0.2) — — — — — (0.2) —

Intra‑group transfers  34.2 71.0 0.5 0.5 (34.7) (71.5) — —

FX loss on opening balance (0.8) (1.8) — — — (0.1) (0.8) (1.9)

Closing cash at 30 June 6.7 4.7 0.1 0.1 3.5 12.8 10.3 17.6

† This business segment was classified as held for sale as at 30 June 2015. As at 30 June 2016 the requirements to recognise the assets as held for sale 
were not met resulting in reclassification to continuing operations. 

The Group started the year with cash of US$17.6 million. 
During the year the Group spent US$6.1 million on operating 
activities, invested a further US$68.2 million in the Project, 
paid finance cost in advance of US$12.0 million and paid a 
dividend to minority shareholders of US$0.2 million. The above 
mentioned spend was funded from opening cash balances, cash 
raised from debt facilities of US$73.4 million and a reduction in 
working capital of US$6.5 million. The Group incurred foreign 
exchange losses on opening cash of US$0.8 million mainly 
as a result of Maloti‑denominated funds being converted to 
US Dollars at stronger US Dollar rates throughout the year. 
The result is a net cash movement of US$7.3 million and a 
closing cash balance at the end of the year, after adjusting for 
the effects of foreign exchange movements of US$10.3 million.

Liqhobong

Liqhobong started the year with cash of US$4.7 million. 
During the year, Liqhobong spent USS$68.2 million on the 
Project, paid finance costs in advance of US$10.5 million, 
spent US$2.2 million on operating activities and paid a 
dividend to the minority shareholders of Infrastructure 
Projects (Proprietary) Limited, who owns the power line, of 
US$0.2 million. Liqhobong funded its expenditure from cash 
receipts from the ABSA debt facility of US$43.4 million, 
Group loans of US$34.2 million, decreased working capital of 
US$6.2 million and opening cash balances, resulting in net cash 
movement of US$2.8 million and a closing cash balance after 
adjusting for the effects of foreign exchange movements of 
US$6.7 million. 
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Cash expenditure of US$68.2 million on the Project represents 
a further 34% of the total project budget of US$185.4 million. 
This increases total Project spend to 76% (2015: 42%) of 
the Project budget. During the year all major earthworks, 
construction of the residual storage facility and major 
fabrication was completed. Erection of the steel, mechanical, 
plate and pipework commenced as the various civil areas were 
completed and signed off by the civils contractor. All critical 
works streams remain within the revised baseline and at year 
end overall physical completion was at 85%.

BK11 mine

During the year BK11 expended US$0.5 million on continued 
care and maintenance expenses. Cash requirements were 
funded from Group loans.

Corporate

Corporate started the year with cash of US$12.8 million. 
Corporate spent US$3.4 million on operating activities, 
paid finance cost in advance of US$1.5 million in relation 
to the Eurobond and advanced a further US$34.2 million 
to Liqhobong for further investment in the Project and 
US$0.5 million to BK11 to fund ongoing care and maintenance 
costs. Corporate funded its cash expenditure from 
US$30.0 million cash raised from the Eurobond, a decrease in 
working capital of US$0.3 million and opening cash balances. 
This resulted in net cash movement of US$9.3 million and a 
closing cash balance of US$3.5 million.

Grant Ferriman
Chief Financial Officer

31 October 2016

Strategic Report

This Strategic Report was approved by the Board on 
31 October 2016 and is signed on behalf by: 

Lucio Genovese
Non‑Executive Chairman

31 October 2016
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Mike Wittet, Non‑Executive Director RC, NC and SHECC
Mr Wittet has over 40 years of experience in mining, the majority of which were spent in the diamond industry. His career 
includes various senior positions in the industry including general manager of Jwaneng, Orapa and Namdeb diamond 
mines. Mr Wittet also held the position of consulting engineer in charge of De Beers SA operations and deputy managing 
director of Debswana Diamond Company (Pty) Limited. Mr Wittet holds an honours degree in chemical engineering from 
Edinburgh University in Scotland.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Stuart Brown, Chief Executive Officer
Mr Brown has over 20 years of experience in the diamond industry, where he has gained a wealth of experience across all 
aspects throughout the diamond pipeline from exploration to selling and marketing of diamonds. In 2006, Mr Brown was 
appointed as the De Beers Group CFO, a position he held for over five years, and in 2010 was appointed joint acting CEO 
to run De Beers’ global activities in addition to his CFO duties.

Mr Brown has an enviable track record of leading business transformation to develop lean, agile and high performing 
organisations. Mr Brown holds a Bachelor of Accounting Science from the University of South Africa and is a member of 
the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants. Mr Brown is also a member of the Commonwealth Enterprise and 
Investment Council.

Lucio Genovese, Non‑Executive Chairman NC
Mr Genovese has 29 years of experience in both the merchant and financial sector of the metals and mining industry. 
Mr Genovese is the CEO of Nage Capital Management in Baar, Switzerland. He is also a member of the board of 
Ferrexpo AG and Nevada Copper Inc. and was actively involved in the restructuring and development of Ferrous 
Resources and more recently Mantos Copper S.A., where he is also a board member. He was previously employed at 
Glencore International AG where he held several senior positions including CEO of the CIS region and manager of the 
Moscow office. Mr Genovese is a qualified Chartered Accountant and has a BComm and BAcc from the University of 
Witwatersrand, Johannesburg (South Africa).

Braam Jonker, Non‑Executive Director AC, RC and NC 
Mr Abraham Jonker has more than 20 years of extensive management, accounting and corporate finance experience 
across five continents, mostly in the mining industry. Mr Jonker currently serves as the Lead Independent Director on the 
Board of Mandalay Resources Corp (TSX: MND). Mr Jonker is also a member of the board of directors of Golden Reign 
Resources. Previously he was the chief financial officer of Western Coal Corp. until its acquisition by Walter Energy Inc. 
in 2011. He is a Chartered Accountant in British Columbia, Canada, England and Wales as well as South Africa. He is also 
a member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants in the United Kingdom and holds a master’s degree in 
South African and international tax from the Rand Afrikaans University.

Ken Owen, Non‑Executive Director SHECC
Mr Owen has over 40 years of experience in the mining industry. From 1974 to 1995, he worked for De Beers 
Consolidated Mines, holding the position of consulting engineer for the group mines from 1988 to 1992 and general 
manager of the Premier Diamond Mine until 1995 when he was transferred to Anglo American South America as senior 
vice president of mining. In 2003 he joined the international mining and geological consultancy firm, SRK Consulting, 
as an associate consultant. In 2006 he joined Mwana Africa plc, an AIM‑listed junior miner (now known as Asa Resource 
Group plc) as Technical Director, retiring in 2009. Mr Owen holds an MSc in minerals production management from 
Imperial College, London.

Paul Sobie BSc, PGeo, Non‑Executive Director AC and RC
Mr Sobie is an economic geologist specialising in the exploration and evaluation of diamond deposits, which included 
the initial economic evaluations of the Liqhobong kimberlites in Lesotho. Mr Sobie has over 25 years of professional 
experience, including extensive project evaluation work for clients in both the junior and senior mining sectors and with a 
particular focus on southern Africa. He is currently president and managing partner of MPH Consulting Limited of Toronto, 
Canada, an international mineral exploration, geological and geophysical consultancy. Mr Sobie is a practising member of 
the Association of Professional Geoscientists of Ontario.



Firestone Diamonds plc Annual Report and Accounts 2016  | 23

Strategic Report Financial StatementsCorporate Governance

 

Niall Young, Non‑Executive Director
Mr Young is an economic geologist with over 30 years of experience in exploration, evaluation, research and development, 
and mining. He spent 25 years with the Anglo American, Minorco and De Beers Group of companies in a range of 
commodities. In 2006, he took up the role of General Manager Mineral Resource Management for the De Beers Group 
of companies. He has worked on projects in southern Africa, Canada, Russia, Eastern Europe, the Middle East and India.

In 2009, Mr Young co‑founded Kleingeld Young & Partners, a mining and natural resources consultancy. From 2011 to 
2014, Mr Young was also CEO of Mantle Diamonds Limited, a diamond mining and exploration company. He is a director 
of Blue Lias Holdings Limited, a hi‑tech start‑up company specialising in the development and application of Radio 
Frequency Identification (“RFID”) technology.

Mr Young holds a BSc (Hons) in Mineral Exploitation from University College Cardiff and is a Fellow of the Geological 
Society of London. 

Mr Young is Pacific Road Capital Management’s nominated non‑executive director of the company.

Grant Ferriman, Chief Financial Officer
Grant Ferriman is a qualified Chartered Accountant with 16 years of experience, including nine years in the mining 
industry. Prior to joining Firestone Diamonds, he was the group financial controller for Mwana Africa plc (now known 
as Asa Resource Group plc) responsible for reporting and control systems across the Group’s assets in South Africa, 
Zimbabwe and the DRC. He has extensive experience in public company reporting in the United Kingdom and the 
development and implementation of control systems for companies with assets based in southern Africa. Mr Ferriman 
holds an honours bachelor of accounting science degree from the University of South Africa and is a member of the 
South African Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Glenn Black, Chief Project Officer
Glenn Black is a mechanical engineer with over 40 years of experience in senior management and operational roles in the 
mining industry. Mr Black spent 22 years at De Beers before leaving in 2012. During his time with De Beers, his primary 
role focused on project implementation, management, and operation for a variety of major projects globally, having 
managed nine major projects for the De Beers group of companies. Mr Black’s career has seen him work in the coal, gold, 
mineral sands, platinum and diamond mining industries.

Paul Bosma, General Manager – Liqhobong
Paul Bosma is a qualified geologist with more than 23 years’ experience in the mining industry, of which 14 years were 
in the diamond industry where he worked for De Beers. Before joining Firestone Diamonds, Paul was general manager of 
a joint venture between De Beers and Anglo Gold Ashanti whereafter he worked as a vice president for Pala Investments, 
an international mining investment fund based in Switzerland. Mr Bosma holds BSc (Honours) and MSc degrees as well as 
an MBA from the University of Cape Town’s Graduate School of Business.

Keith Johnson, Non‑Executive Director AC
Mr Johnson has over 25 years of experience in the natural resources sector, 18 of which were in the mining industry where 
he held various senior positions within Rio Tinto plc, including on its executive committee from 2003 to 2009. From 2003 
to 2007, Mr Johnson had overall responsibility for Rio’s global diamond business which accounted for over US$1 billion in 
revenue and operated across three continents. In 2007, Mr Johnson was appointed head of business resources, where he 
was part of the team responsible for the integration of Alcan Inc., following its acquisition in October 2007.

In January 2010, Mr Johnson joined FTSE 250 oil and gas company, BG Group plc, as General Manager of Strategy and 
Portfolio Development. Mr Johnson holds an MBA in Finance and a BSc degree in Mathematics and Operational Research. 
Mr Johnson is Resource Capital Fund VI L.P.’s nominated non‑executive director of the Company.

AC NC

RC SHECC

Audit Committee Nomination Committee

Remuneration Committee Safety, Health, Environment and  
Corporate Social Responsibility Committee

Key
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The Directors present their Annual Report and Accounts for the 
year ended 30 June 2016. The disclosure requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006 and AIM Rules and, where the Directors 
have deemed it appropriate, the Listing Rules and the UKLA 
Disclosure and Transparency Rules have been met by the 
contents of this Report, along with the Strategic Report and 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report which should, therefore, 
be read in conjunction with this report.

Results and dividends

The Group made a profit after taxation of US$13.6 million 
(2015: loss after tax of US$10.4 million). Further details are 
shown in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income on page 38.

The Directors do not recommend a dividend (2015: US$nil).

Capital structure

The Company’s share capital consists of one class of 
ordinary shares and two classes of deferred shares. At 
the date of this report the ordinary share capital of the 
Company was 314,948,244 ordinary shares of 1 pence each 
(2015: 308,992,814 ordinary shares of 1 pence each).

Other than the general provision of the Articles (and prevailing 
legislation) there are no specific restrictions on the size of a 
holding or on the transfer of ordinary shares.

The Directors are not aware of any agreement between holders 
of the Company’s shares that may result in the restriction of 
the transfer or securities or on voting rights. No shareholder 
holds any securities carrying any special rights or control over 
the Company’s share capital.

At the date of this report the Company had been notified of 
the following interests in the issued ordinary share capital:

   Shares % holding

Resource Capital Fund VI L.P.  74,143,918 23.5 

Pacific Road Resources†   74,105,286 23.5

Edwards Family Holdings Limited  28,296,842 9.0

FIL Limited   15,601,540 5.0

Sustainable Capital Limited  15,501,170 4.9

† Includes Pacific Road Resources Fund II L.P. (“PRC LP”) and Pacific Road 
Resources Fund II (“PC Trust”).

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Directors

Biographies of the current Directors as at the date of this 
report are set out on pages 22 and 23.

The Directors who served during the year and up to the date of 
this report were as follows:

    Position

Stuart Brown  Chief Executive Officer

Lucio Genovese  Non‑Executive Chairman

Keith Johnson  Non‑Executive Director

Braam Jonker  Non‑Executive Director

Ken Owen  Non‑Executive Director

Paul Sobie  Non‑Executive Director

Mike Wittet  Non‑Executive Director

Niall Young  Non‑Executive Director

Details of Directors’ emoluments and fees are shown in 
note 6 to the financial statements and further details of 
their remuneration and share interests are shown in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 26 to 29.

The Company maintains Directors’ and Officers’ Liability 
Insurance which in the view of the Directors, should provide 
appropriate cover for any potential legal action brought against 
its Directors. The Company has also provided in its Articles of 
Association an indemnity for its Directors, which is a qualifying 
third party indemnity provision for the purposes of section 234 
of the Companies Act 2006. This was in place throughout the 
financial year under review and up to the date of the approval 
of the financial statements.

Employees

The Group had 61 full time employees at the year end.

Employee involvement

The Company’s policy is to actively involve its employees in 
the business and to ensure that matters of concern to them, 
including the Group’s aims and objectives and the financial and 
economic factors which impact thereon are communicated in 
an open and regular manner. This is achieved through regular 
management briefs.

Financial risk management and exposure to risks  
from the use of financial instruments

Financial risk disclosures and details of the Group’s exposure to 
risk arising from the use of financial instruments are provided 
within the Strategic Report and in note 30 to the financial 
statements.
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Going concern

The Directors, after making enquiries and considering 
uncertainties associated with the Group’s operations, believe 
that the Group and Company have, or have access to the 
necessary financial resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors 
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the Annual Report and Accounts which do not include any 
adjustments that would result from the going concern basis 
of preparation being inappropriate. Further details are included 
within note 1 Basis of preparation – Going concern on page 45.

Post‑balance sheet events

Post‑balance sheet events are detailed in note 32 to the 
financial statements. 

Auditor

In the case of each person who was a Director at the time this 
report was approved:

• so far as that Director was aware, there was no relevant 
available information of which the Company’s auditor is 
unaware; and 

• that Director has taken all steps that the Director ought to 
have taken as a Director to make himself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor 
was aware of that information. 

A resolution to re‑appoint BDO LLP as auditor to the Company 
will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

On behalf of the Board

Lucio Genovese 
Non‑Executive Chairman

31 October 2016
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Dear shareholder

I am pleased to present the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
for the year ended 30 June 2016. The Company has had 
an extremely busy year with the Project proceeding at full 
capacity to its present ramp‑up status, under the direction of 
the Company’s Management and owners’ team.

The Remuneration Committee has been working closely with 
our Chief Executive Officer on the remuneration packages 
going forward for our executive and operational team, 
including commissioning independent consultants to ensure 
our benchmarking results in Firestone being an attractive 
employer in the mining industry. We feel it imperative that 
our packages are competitive and offer the right balance of 
fixed, performance and retention‑based compensation that 
results in exceptional candidates. As a result of this work, we 
are proposing to put in place a new long‑term incentive plan 
which will be placed before shareholders at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting. We believe the Company has 
succeeded in assembling a highly experienced team with a 
proven track record of successful performance in the diamond 
industry, and that the mixture of fixed and performance‑related 
remuneration is well balanced and will motivate the team to 
achieve exceptional standards.

The Remuneration Committee

The Board has delegated certain responsibilities for Executive 
remuneration to the Remuneration Committee. The 
Remuneration Committee has approved Terms of Reference, 
a copy of which is available on the Company’s website at  
www.firestonediamonds.com.

Remuneration Committee Membership and 
attendance at meetings

The current members of the Remuneration Committee are 
three Non‑Executive Directors:

Paul Sobie (Chairman) 
Braam Jonker 
Mike Wittet

The Committee consists of independent Non‑Executive 
Directors and therefore complies with best practice guidelines 
which recommend that all members should be independent. 

The Committee met four times during the year with all 
members in attendance. 

THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE HAS BEEN 
WORKING CLOSELY WITH OUR CEO ON THE 
RECRUITMENT AND RETENTION OF OUR 
OPERATIONAL TEAM AS WE TRANSITION 
FROM A PROJECT DEVELOPMENT FOCUSED 
COMPANY TO A DIAMOND PRODUCER
Paul Sobie
Non‑Executive Director

SUMMARY

• Highly experienced management team, 
successful project delivery and new recruits 
in mining

• Competitive and enticing remuneration 
packages, benchmarked in both South Africa 
and London

• The Committee consists of independent 
Non‑Executive Directors and therefore 
complies with best practice guidelines

• Motivating performance‑related 
remuneration designed to attract 
and retain key staff

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT
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The Remuneration Committee’s main responsibilities

A summary of the Remuneration Committee’s main 
responsibilities as set out in its Terms of Reference are:

• to determine and agree with the Board the broad policy 
for the remuneration of the Company’s Chairman, Chief 
Executive Officer, the Executive Directors and such other 
members of the Executive Management as it is designated 
to consider;

• to determine the total individual remuneration package of 
each Executive Director and other senior executives including 
bonuses and long‑term incentive awards;

• to approve the design of, and determine targets for, any 
performance‑related pay schemes operated by the Company 
and approve the total annual payments made under 
such schemes;

• to review the design of all share incentive plans for approval 
by the Board and shareholders. For any such plans, to 
determine each year whether awards will be made, and if 
so, the overall amount of such awards, the individual awards 
to Executive Directors and other senior executives, and the 
performance targets to be used; and

• to ensure that contractual terms on termination, and any 
payments made, are fair to the individual, and the Company, 
that failure is not rewarded and that the duty to mitigate 
loss is fully recognised.

What the Remuneration Committee did 
during the year

The main items of business considered by the Remuneration 
Committee during the year were:

• worked with our Chief Executive Officer, and two 
independent remuneration consulting groups to ensure 
Firestone’s remuneration packages are competitive moving 
forward for all Executives and Managers;

• Reviewed and determined that both the Non‑Executive 
Directors, and Non‑Executive Chairman remuneration should 
remain as per present, based on benchmarking;

• in relation with the above, carefully decided upon Firestone’s 
current peer group of mining companies for benchmarking 
remuneration packages;

• determined executive and management fixed‑salary levels 
based on benchmarking;

• determined executive and management Short‑Term 
Incentive Plan (“STIP”) levels and Key Performance Indicators 
(“KPIs”) for these performance‑based awards;

• determined that the Company’s present Long‑Term 
Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) of share options for executives 
and management should now be capped, and be 
replaced by a new plan of Restricted Share Unit (“RSU”) 
performance‑based awards over three years which is to 
be placed before shareholders at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting;

• determined 2016 full year annual bonuses for Executives and 
Management, in recognition of their exceptional performance 
on the Liqhobong Mine Development Project; and

• discussed and determined conceptual completion bonus 
timing and quantums for Executives and Management for 
the Liqhobong Mine Development Project.

Priorities for the Remuneration Committee 
for 2017/18

The main priorities for the Remuneration Committee going 
forward are the continued review and benchmarking of the 
Company’s Executive and Non‑Executive remuneration policies, 
to ensure competitive compensation packages are in place 
to recruit, retain and motivate highly qualified executives 
and managers who will contribute towards the successful 
performance of the Company. 

Restricted Share Plan

One of the major risks identified by the Company is the 
attraction and long‑term retention of key managers and other 
employees who perform well within the Company. During the 
year the Remuneration Committee reviewed the current share 
option schemes and their potential to mitigate the identified 
risk. Together with FIT Remuneration Consultants, it was 
decided to develop and adopt a more effective long‑term 
incentive plan through the adoption of the Restricted Share 
Plan. The adoption of the Plan will be subject to shareholder 
approval at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The Plan is a discretionary benefit offered by the Company for 
the benefit of its senior employees and key managers. Its main 
purpose is to increase the interest of the employees in the 
Company’s long‑term business goals and performance through 
share ownership. The Plan is intended to act as a retention 
and reward mechanism for key individuals within the Group. 
Share awards will be capped at a maximum of 4% of the issued 
share capital of the Company and will vest in equal tranches 
over a three‑year period. The recipients of the awards will be 
required to maintain above average performance, meeting all 
of their individual targets to ensure that awards vest during the 
three‑year period.

Advisers to the Remuneration Committee

FIT Remuneration Consultants in London and Remchannel 
PwC Research Services (Pty) Limited in South Africa were the 
main advisers to the Remuneration Committee during the 
course of the year. The Chief Executive Officer reported to the 
Remuneration Committee on remuneration matters relating to 
Senior Management and employees.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Non‑Executive Directors
Dates of appointment

Non‑Executive Director         Date appointed

Lucio Genovese        17/01/2012

Keith Johnson        01/05/2015

Braam Jonker        14/12/2011

Ken Owen        18/06/2014

Paul Sobie        20/06/2011

Mike Wittet        24/07/2012

Niall Young        18/06/2014

Fees

The Board approved base fees for Non‑Executive Directors and Chairman are as follows:

        2016 2015  
        US$ US$

Chairman        120,000 120,000

Non‑Executive Director         60,000 60,000

Share awards and additional payments to Non‑Executive Directors

No share awards or additional payments were made to the Non‑Executive Directors during the year.

Directors’ remuneration table

    Base  Base Annual Share‑based Total Total  
    salary fee bonus payments 2016 2015  
    US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$

Executive Director

Stuart Brown    500,000 — 41,667 667,972† 1,209,639 1,392,972

Non‑Executive Directors       

Lucio Genovese    — 120,000 — — 120,000 120,000

Keith Johnson    — 60,000 — — 60,000 10,000

Braam Jonker    — 60,000 — — 60,000 60,000

Ken Owen    — 60,000 — — 60,000 60,000

Paul Sobie    — 60,000 — — 60,000 60,000

Mike Wittet    — 60,000 — — 60,000 60,000

Niall Young    — 60,000 — — 60,000 60,000

    — 480,000 — — 480,000 430,000

Total    500,000 480,000 41,667 667,972 1,689,639 1,822,972

† The share‑based payment expense relates to share options issued to Stuart Brown in May 2014. The share options vest over a three‑year period and the 
expense is recognised over the vesting period.

Components of remuneration

Component Purpose and link to strategy Operation Performance metrics

Base salary To attract and retain talent. Reflects individual’s role, experience 
and performance. Base salaries are 
reviewed annually.

Business and individual performance 
are considered when setting 
base salary.

Short‑Term 
Incentive 
Plan – annual 
performance bonus

Rewards the achievement of 
short‑term financial and strategic 
project milestones.

Determined by the Remuneration 
Committee annually. Maximum level 
of award is 150% of base salary.

Award quantums are based on 
achieving both under budget 
and ahead of time thresholds 
on the Project.

Long‑Term 
Incentive Plan – 
restricted share 
unit awards

To incentivise and reward 
performance linked to strategic 
objectives and align the interests 
of Management with those of the 
shareholders.

Award of restricted share units on 
hiring, or 2017 contract renewal. The 
Board may periodically make further 
awards upon recommendation by 
the Remuneration Committee.

One‑third will vest on the first 
anniversary of the date of grant, 
one‑third on the second anniversary 
and the final third upon the third 
anniversary of the grant.
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Operation of share option awards

There are two share option plans operated by the Company which have been approved by shareholders. These are the Executive 
Share Option Plan, for Executives and employees, and the Share Option Plan for Non‑Executives. Performance conditions are 
attached to the exercise of awards under the Executive Share Option Plan. These relate to safety, operational, project and financial 
targets as appropriate to the individual.

Share option awards 

  Date      Earliest Latest 
  option Exercise  Movements during the year  exercise exercise
  granted price 1 July 2015 Grants Exercised Lapsed 30 June 2016 date date

Executive Director 

Stuart Brown  27/05/2014 30p 3,033,760 — — — 3,033,760 27/5/2016  26/05/2024

  27/05/2014 30p 3,033,760 — — — 3,033,760 27/5/2017  26/05/2024

  27/05/2014 30p 3,033,760 — — — 3,033,760 Achievement of  26/05/2024 
         performance  
         condition† 

Non‑Executive Directors         

Lucio Genovese  23/11/2012 85p 900,000 — — — 900,000 23/11/2012 22/11/2022

Braam Jonker  23/11/2012 85p 300,000 — — — 300,000 23/11/2012 22/11/2022

† The performance condition is the establishment of successful nameplate production (plant and commissioning complete) of the Liqhobong 
Diamond Mine.

No options were exercised or granted to Directors during the year.

Old share option schemes

Paul Sobie holds 15,000 options granted to him on 19 December 2007, when he was not a Director of the Company, with an 
exercise price of 200 pence and a term of ten years.

Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company as at the date of this report

 Number of shares†

Director       2016 2015

Stuart Brown        507,148 485,831

Lucio Genovese         2,846,945 1,846,945

Keith Johnson         282,997 —

Braam Jonker§         836,347§ 836,347

Ken Owen         — —

Paul Sobie         — —

Mike Wittet         — —

Niall Young         — —

† Excluding share option awards.

§  Mr Jonker is interested in 429,794 ordinary shares held directly and 406,553 ordinary shares held by Frog Ventures Limited, a company of which 
Mr Jonker is a Director and beneficiary.

Paul Sobie 
Non‑Executive Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

31 October 2016
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic 
Report, Directors’ Report and Annual Report and Accounts in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
Directors have elected to prepare the Group and Company 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European 
Union. Under company law the Directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and 
Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. 
The Directors are also required to prepare financial statements 
in accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies as published 
by the London Stock Exchange plc from time to time. 

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are 
required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 
consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether they have been prepared in accordance with 
IFRS as adopted by the European Union, subject to any 
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial 
statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will 
continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the Company and enable 
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with 
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and 
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and 
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Website publication

The Directors are responsible for ensuring the Annual Report 
and Accounts are made available on a website. Financial 
statements are published on the Company’s website in 
accordance with legislation in the United Kingdom governing 
the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, 
which may vary from legislation in other jurisdictions. The 
maintenance and integrity of the Company’s website is the 
responsibility of the Directors. The Directors’ responsibility also 
extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial statements 
contained therein.

On behalf of the Board

Lucio Genovese 
Non‑Executive Chairman

31 October 2016
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

Dear shareholder

I have pleasure in presenting Firestone Diamond’s Corporate 
Governance Statement. This report summarises the Company’s 
governance framework and highlights the work the Board has 
done during the year to develop our governance approach and 
practice.

Companies on the AIM Market of the London Stock Exchange 
are not required to comply with the UK Corporate Governance 
Code (the “Code”) and due to its size, the Company does 
not seek to comply with the Code. As a Board, we are fully 
committed to supporting high standards of governance and 
recognise that by applying sound principles in running the 
Company we will provide a solid basis for growth and establish 
trust with our stakeholders. It is our goal therefore to improve 
and develop our governance procedures as the Company grows. 
We apply the Quoted Companies Alliance (“QCA”) corporate 
governance guidelines for smaller quoted companies and seek 
to apply the Code wherever possible and as appropriate to the 
size, nature and resources of the Group. It is our intention to be 
open and transparent about our governance arrangements and 
use the Annual Report and Accounts to give details of changes 
and improvements we have made during the year.

The Directors support high standards of corporate governance. 
The Company has identified areas of the Code it considers 
relevant to the current size and nature of the Group’s 
operations as set out in this statement.

Lucio Genovese 
Non‑Executive Chairman

31 October 2016

Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Firestone Diamonds 
Board

Audit 
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Safety, Health, 
Environment 

and CSR 
Committee

An effective management framework 

Role of the Board

The Board has approved a Schedule of Matters reserved 
for the Board, which sets out the Board’s responsibilities. 
The key tasks of the Board are:

• setting the Group’s values and standards;

• approval of long‑term objectives and strategy;

• approval of revenue and capital budgets and plans;

• review of performance in light of strategy and budgets 
ensuring any necessary corrective actions are taken;

• approval of the Annual Report and Accounts, material 
contracts and major projects;

• determination of the financial structure of the Group 
including the dividend policy;

• oversight of the internal control and risk management 
environments; and

• approval of communication with shareholders and 
the market.

THIS REPORT SUMMARISES THE 
COMPANY’S GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK AND 
HIGHLIGHTS THE WORK THE BOARD HAS 
DONE DURING THE YEAR TO DEVELOP OUR 
GOVERNANCE APPROACH AND PRACTICE.
Lucio Genovese
Non‑Executive Chairman
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued

Composition of the Board

The Board consists of eight Directors: the Non‑Executive 
Chairman, one Executive Director, and six further 
Non‑Executive Directors. The skill set of the Board includes 
experience in corporate finance, mining and exploration, 
and investor relations. As the requirements and focus of 
the Company change in the future, so too will the Board 
composition as we ensure the skills required are in place. 
Details of each of the Directors’ experience and background 
are given in their biographies on pages 22 and 23.

Independence

The Board considers four of its seven Non‑Executive Directors, 
Ken Owen, Paul Sobie, Mike Wittet and Braam Jonker to be fully 
independent. In this respect the Company is compliant with 
the Code which requires that smaller companies should have at 
least two independent Non‑Executive Directors. The Board has 
reviewed the independence of the Chairman, Lucio Genovese, 
and Non‑Executive Directors Niall Young and Keith Johnson 
and is aware that these Directors will not be considered to be 
independent if strict best practice guidelines are applied. Niall 
Young and Keith Johnson are the nominated Non‑Executive 
Directors of major shareholders of the Company: Pacific Road 
Capital Management and Resource Capital Fund respectively. 
The Chairman, Lucio Genovese is a representative of Nage 
Capital Management, which works on a number of projects 
with Audley Investment Management Limited who indirectly 
holds 3.9% of the Company. The Board maintains that these 
Directors have retained their independence of thought and 
support for the interests of all the Company’s shareholders.

Appointments to the Board and re‑election

The Board has delegated the tasks of reviewing Board 
composition, searching for appropriate candidates and making 
recommendations to the Board on candidates to be appointed 
as Directors to the Nomination Committee. Further details 
on the role of the Nomination Committee may be found on 
page 36. 

With regard to re‑election of Directors the Company is 
governed by its Articles of Association (“Articles”). Under the 
Articles, the Board has the power to appoint a Director during 
the year but any person so appointed must stand for election 
at the next AGM. One‑third of the Directors or, if their number 
exceeds but is not a multiple of three, the number nearest 
to (but not exceeding) one‑third, must retire and stand for 
re‑election at each AGM. However, in accordance with the 
Code, all of the Directors will stand at the forthcoming AGM.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There is a clear division of responsibilities between the 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The Chairman has overall 
responsibility for the running of the Board, upholding the 
highest standards of integrity and governance throughout the 
Group, ensuring that Directors receive appropriate training and 
ensuring effective communications with shareholders. The Chief 
Executive Officer’s main responsibilities are the development 
of objectives and business plans and their implementation 
following approval by the Board, managing the Group’s risk 
profile, ensuring appropriate risk management and internal 
control systems are in place and leading the Executive team.

Senior Independent Director

The Company does not have a Senior Independent Director. 
Given the current stage of its development the Board does not 
believe that the appointment of a Senior Independent Director 
would add value to the operation of the Board. In addition the 
Chairman and other Non‑Executive Directors are available 
to shareholders as communication channels if required. The 
need for a Senior Independent Director will however be kept 
under review.

Non‑Executive Directors

Non‑Executive Directors receive a letter on appointment 
setting out the time commitment expected of them and 
their duties. Non‑Executive Directors are specifically tasked 
with bringing independent judgement to bear on issues put 
to the Board and to apply their knowledge and experience in 
considering matters such as strategy, Company performance, 
use of resources and standards of conduct.

Conflicts of interest

A process has been developed to identify any of the Directors’ 
potential or actual conflicts of interest. This includes declaring 
any new conflicts before the start of each Board meeting.

Development, information and support

The Directors are actively encouraged to visit the operations 
in Lesotho and several site visits have been made by individual 
Directors during the year. At least one Board meeting per 
year is held on site at Liqhobong. The Chairman is supported 
in governance matters by Prism Cosec, which also provides 
company secretarial services to the Company. Updates are 
given to the Board on developments in governance and 
regulations as appropriate.

Non-Executive Chairman

Independent 
Non-Executive Directors

Non-Independent 
Non-Executive Directors

Executive Director

1

1

4

2

Split between Executive and Non‑Executive Directors
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Performance evaluation

A formal internal performance evaluation, by way of 
questionnaire, was carried out during the year under review. 
The Chairman then took the opportunity to discuss the 
operation of the Board and any issues raised on a one‑to‑one 
basis with individual Directors and later with the Board as 
a whole. The Chairman was pleased to conclude that the 
Board was operating well and cohesively. The principal area 
for discussion relating to governance, which arose from the 
evaluation, was succession planning which was an indication 
that the Board recognises the need to assess its requisite skills 
when the mine moves into its operational phase. This topic 
will be further discussed by the Board over the next financial 
year. Other discussion topics raised by Directors during the 
evaluation exercise related to long‑term strategy and the 
industry as a whole. These topics were incorporated into the 
agenda for a strategy day held by the Board in London in 
July 2016.

Operation of the Board and its Committees

The Board is supported by Board Committees which are 
responsible for a variety of tasks delegated by the Board. Each 
Board Committee has approved Terms of Reference setting 
out their responsibilities. These are available on the Company’s 
website at www.firestonediamonds.com. Details of the 
operation of the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination, and Safety, 
Health, Environmental and Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committees are set out in their respective reports below. All 
of the Board Committees are authorised to obtain, at the 
Company’s expense, professional advice on any matter within 
their Terms of Reference and to have access to sufficient 
resources in order to carry out their duties. 

The Board and its Committees meet regularly throughout 
the year. Directors also have ongoing contact with Senior 
Management on a variety of issues between formal meetings. 
Directors are encouraged to question and voice any concerns 
they may have on any topic put to the Board for debate.

Attendance of Directors at Board and Committee meetings is 
shown below.

      Audit Remuneration Nomination SHEC 
     Board Committee Committee Committee Committee 
     (six meetings) (three meetings) (four meetings) (one meeting) (three meetings)

Lucio Genovese     6/6 — — 1/1 —

Stuart Brown     6/6 — — — —

Keith Johnson     6/6 3/3 — — —

Braam Jonker     6/6 3/3 4/4 1/1 —

Ken Owen     5/6 — — — 3/3

Paul Sobie     6/6 3/3 4/4 — —

Mike Wittet     6/6 — 4/4 1/1 3/3

Niall Young     6/6 — — — —

The number of meetings attended is reported out of the number of the meetings that the Director was eligible to attend. 

What the Board did during the year

Much of the Board’s time was spent putting in place the 
infrastructure necessary to ensure that the Project progressed 
to operational readiness. The following areas were all addressed 
by the Board during the year:

• continuing to ensure that key appointments were made in 
the Company’s technical, HR, legal and finance teams;

• monitoring progress on the Liqhobong Development Project;

• debating and reviewing the project risk matrix;

• discussing and overseeing any environmental or community 
issues arising from the group’s activities; 

• ensuring an efficient tax structure for the Group;

• considering and approving ongoing arrangements for the 
disposal of the Group’s Botswana assets;

• monitoring the operation of the treasury policy;

• approving the Group budget for the year;

• continuing to ensure that the Group complies with the UK 
and international anti‑bribery and corruption legislation; and

• approving various procedural arrangements connected with 
the Group’s Eurobond put in place in April 2015.

There are also a number of standing and routine items included 
for review on each Board agenda. These include the safety, 
health and environment report, the CEO’s operations report 
and project updates, financial reports, consideration of reports 
from the Board Committees and investor relations updates.
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Risk management and internal control

The Group operates a system of internal financial controls 
commensurate with its current size and activities, which is 
designed to ensure that the possibility of misstatement or loss 
is kept to a minimum. There is a system in place for financial 
reporting and the Board receives a number of reports to enable 
it to carry out these functions in the most efficient manner. 
These procedures include the preparation of management 
accounts, forecast variance analysis and other ad hoc reports. 
There are clearly defined authority limits throughout the 
Group, including those matters which are reserved specifically 
for the Board. 

The Board has responsibility for the effectiveness of the 
internal financial control framework. Such a system can 
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement. The Group does not currently have, 
nor considers there is currently a need for, an internal audit 
function. The Board will continuously assess the ongoing need 
for the strengthening of internal financial controls as the Group 
moves out of the development phase at its flagship asset, the 
Liqhobong Diamond Mine. 

Risks throughout the Group are considered and reviewed on 
a regular basis. Risks are identified and a risk matrix, detailing 
the major risks, is prepared. The risk matrix is used to track and 
monitor risks and put in place mitigating actions as required. 
Principal risks identified are set out in the Strategic Report on 
pages 13 to 16.

Relations with shareholders

The Board is committed to maintaining an ongoing 
communication with its shareholders. The Directors are keen to 
build a mutual understanding of objectives with its institutional 
shareholders and a regular dialogue with institutional investors 
has been maintained throughout the year. The Directors also 
encourage communications with private shareholders and their 
participation in the Company’s Annual General Meeting. 

The Annual Report and Accounts is a key communication 
document and is available on the Company’s website  
(www.firestonediamonds.com) together with the annual and 
half year results, trading statements, press releases, regulatory 
announcements and other information on the Group’s 
operations.

This year’s Annual General Meeting of the Company will be 
held on 8 December 2016. The Notice of this year’s Annual 
General Meeting is included with this Annual Report and 
Accounts and is available on the Company’s website at  
www.firestonediamonds.com.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT continued
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Members of the Audit Committee

The Committee consists of the following 
Non‑Executive Directors:

Braam Jonker (Chairman) 
Paul Sobie
Keith Johnson

Duties

The main duties of the Audit Committee are set out in its 
Terms of Reference and include:

• to monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the 
Company, including its annual and half year reports;

• to review and challenge where necessary any changes 
to, and consistency of, accounting policies, whether the 
Company has followed appropriate accounting standards 
and made appropriate estimates and judgements, taking into 
account the views of the external auditor, the going concern 
assumption and all material information presented with the 
financial statements;

• to keep under review the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal controls and risk management systems and to 
review and approve the statements to be included in 
the Annual Report concerning internal controls and risk 
management;

• to consider and make recommendations to the Board, to 
be put to shareholders for approval at the Annual General 
Meeting, in relation to the appointment, re‑appointment and 
removal of the Company’s external auditor; and

• to oversee the relationship with the external auditor 
including approval of their remuneration, approval of 
their terms of engagement, assessment annually of 
their independence and objectivity taking into account 
relevant professional and regulatory requirements and 
the relationship with the auditor as a whole, including the 
provision of any non‑audit services.

Principal activities during the year

The main items of business considered by the Audit Committee 
during the year included:

• discussions concerning various accounting issues and 
impairment of assets;

• going concern review and consideration of cash flow reports;

• review of accounting for the BK11 mine;

• review of the deferred tax asset recognised during the year;

• review of the Group risk log and mitigating factors;

• review of the internal control environment;

• review of the audit plan and scope and consideration of the 
key audit risks;

• review of the financial statements and Annual Report;

• consideration of the external audit report; and

• review of the interim results announcement.

Role of the external auditor

The Audit Committee monitors the relationship with the 
external auditor, BDO LLP, to ensure that auditor independence 
is maintained and reviews its performance. Having reviewed 
the auditor’s independence and performance, the Audit 
Committee is recommending that BDO LLP be re‑appointed as 
the Company’s auditor at the next Annual General Meeting.

Audit process

The auditor prepares an Audit Plan for its review of the full year 
and half year financial statements. The Audit Plan sets out the 
scope of the audit, areas to be targeted and audit timetable. 
This plan is reviewed and agreed by the Audit Committee. 
Following its review the auditor presents its findings to the 
Audit Committee for discussion. 
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT

Members of the Nomination Committee

The Committee consists of the following 
Non‑Executive Directors:

Lucio Genovese (Chairman)
Braam Jonker
Mike Wittet

Duties

The main duties of the Nomination Committee are set out in 
its Terms of Reference and include:

• to regularly review the structure, size and composition 
(including the skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) 
required of the Board compared to its current position and 
to make recommendations to the Board with regard to 
any changes;

• to give full consideration to succession planning and 
formulate succession plans for Directors and other senior 
Executives and in particular for the key roles of Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer in the course of its work, taking 
into account the challenges and opportunities facing the 
Company, and what skills and expertise are therefore needed 
on the Board in the future;

• to be responsible for identifying and nominating for the 
approval of the Board, candidates to fill Board vacancies as 
and when they arise;

• to assess the re‑appointment of any Non‑Executive Director 
at the conclusion of their specified term of office having 
given due regard to their performance and ability to continue 
to contribute to the Board in the light of the knowledge, 
skills and experience required; and

• to assess the re‑election by shareholders of any Director, 
having due regard to their performance and ability to 
continue to contribute to the Board in the light of the 
knowledge, skills and experience required and the need for 
progressive refreshing of the Board.

Principal activities during the year

The Nomination Committee met once during the year and is 
in the process of reviewing the composition of the Board in the 
light of the transition of the Mine from the construction and 
development phase to full operation.

The Committee will begin to give greater consideration 
to succession planning for the Board, and for senior 
executives, during 2017 when the Company’s ongoing 
organisational structure has been fully defined and senior 
recruitment completed. 

SAFETY, HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT AND CORPORATE SOCIAL 
RESPONSIBILITY (“SHEC”) COMMITTEE REPORT 

Members of the SHEC Committee

The SHEC Committee consists of the following 
Non‑Executive Directors:

Mike Wittet (Chairman)
Ken Owen

The Project Manager and General Manager designate also 
attend and present reports at SHEC Committee meetings.

Duties

The remit of the SHEC Committee has been extended to 
include the review of corporate social responsibility matters. 
The main duties of the SHEC Committee are set out in its 
Terms of Reference and include:

• to receive reports from Management concerning all fatalities 
and serious accidents within the Group and actions taken 
by Management as a result of such fatalities or serious 
accidents;

• evaluate the effectiveness of the Group’s policies and 
systems for identifying and managing health, safety, social, 
and environmental risks within the Group’s operations;

• to assess the policies and systems within the Group 
for ensuring compliance with health, safety, social and 
environmental regulatory requirements;

• to assess the performance of the Group with regard to the 
impact of health, safety, social and environmental decisions 
and actions upon employees, communities and other third 
parties and also to assess the impact of such decisions upon 
the reputation of the Group; and

• to review the results of independent audits of the 
Group’s performance in regard to health, safety, social or 
environmental matters, review any strategies and action 
plans developed by Management in response to issues raised 
and, where appropriate, make recommendations to the Board 
concerning the same.

The Company has an excellent health, safety and 
environmental record of which it is proud. Over the last two 
years there have been no Lost Time Injuries (“LTIs”). A total 
of 2,680,784 LTI‑free hours had been recorded at the year 
end and pleasingly this achievement has been maintained 
through to the end of September when over 3.2 million 
man‑hours were recorded without a single LTI. Fifty‑five minor 
safety incidents were investigated by Management during 
the year and reported to the SHEC Committee and Board 
where appropriate where they were given due attention. 
Appropriate corrective actions have been agreed and put in 
place following investigation. We are determined to maintain 
this excellent record.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF FIRESTONE DIAMONDS PLC

 We have audited the financial statements of Firestone 
Diamonds plc for the year ended 30 June 2016 which 
comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows, Company Statement of Financial 
Position, Company Statement of Changes In Equity, Company 
Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes. The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is applicable law and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the European Union and, as 
regards the parent company financial statements, as applied in 
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. 

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, 
as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the Company’s members those matters 
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 
not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Company and the Company’s members as a body, for our audit 
work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied 
that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to 
audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and International Standards 
on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to 
comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s (“FRC’s”) Ethical 
Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial  
statements is provided on the FRC’s website at  
www.frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
state of the Group’s and the parent company’s affairs as 
at 30 June 2016 and of the Group’s profit for the year 
then ended;

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared 
in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union;

• the parent company financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by 
the European Union and as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Strategic Report 
and Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report 
by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following 
matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 
parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the parent company financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

Scott Knight (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor 
London 
United Kingdom

31 October 2016

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in 
England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).



Financial Statements

|  Firestone Diamonds plc Annual Report and Accounts 201638

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

        2016 2015† 
       Note US$’000 US$’000

Other income        450 —

Total administrative expenses       (7,396) (8,172)

Other administrative expenses       (290) (645)

Amortisation and depreciation      12 (2,464) (35)

Impairment       9 — (2,558)

Share‑based payments       23 (775) (827)

Care and maintenance        (518) (521)

Corporate expenses        (3,349) (3,586)

Loss before finance charges and income tax     4 (6,946) (8,172)

Finance income       8 111 76

Finance costs       8 (2,198) (2,290)

Loss before tax        (9,033) (10,386)

Taxation credit       10 22,641 —

Profit/(loss) after tax for the year       13,608 (10,386)

Profit/(loss) after tax for the year attributable to:   

Owners of the parent        7,884 (10,304)

Non‑controlling interests       5,724 (82)

Profit/(loss) after tax for the year       13,608 (10,386)

Other comprehensive loss:   

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss   

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations net of tax    (20,337) (14,588)

Profit/(loss) on cash flow hedges        344 (2,438)

Other comprehensive loss       (19,993) (17,026)

Total comprehensive loss for the year      (6,385) (27,412)

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to:   

Owners of the parent        (7,541) (23,702)

Non‑controlling interests       1,156 (3,710)

Total comprehensive loss for the year      (6,385) (27,412)

Profit/(loss) per share   

Basic profit/(loss) per share from continuing operations (cents)    11 2.5 (3.3)

Diluted profit/(loss) per share   

Diluted profit/(loss) per share from continuing operations (cents)   11 2.5 (3.3)

† In 2015, the BK11 mine was held for sale, however, as at 30 June 2016 the requirements to recognise the assets as held for sale are no longer met 
resulting in reclassification to continuing operations for both the current and preceding year. The impact of the change is disclosed in note 21 – 
Discontinued operations.

The notes on pages 45 to 72 form part of these financial statements.
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        2016 2015† 
       Note US$’000 US$’000

ASSETS   

Non‑current assets   

Property, plant and equipment      12 177,141 130,276

Deferred tax       14 20,248 —

Loan receivable       18 2,816 —

Total non‑current assets       200,205 130,276

Current assets   

Inventories        248 270

Trade and other receivables      19 3,420 13,622

Cash and cash equivalents      20 10,282 17,628

Total current assets        13,950 31,520

Total assets        214,155 161,796

EQUITY   

Share capital       22 163,493 163,441

Share premium         164,680 163,600

Reserves        (46,065) (39,183)

Accumulated losses        (129,041) (134,250)

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent     153,067 153,608

Non‑controlling interests       (13,402) (18,975)

Total equity        139,665 134,633

LIABILITIES   

Non‑current liabilities   

Borrowings       25 50,097 —

Deferred tax       14 — 3,480

Rehabilitation provisions       26 3,306 3,078

Total non‑current liabilities       53,403 6,558

Current liabilities   

Borrowings       25 4,680 —

Other financial liabilities       27 1,688 2,438

Trade and other payables      28 14,198 17,777

Provisions       29 521 390

Total current liabilities        21,087 20,605

Total liabilities        74,490 27,163

Total equity and liabilities       214,155 161,796

† In 2015, the BK11 mine was held for sale, however, as at 30 June 2016 the requirements to recognise the assets as held for sale are no longer met 
resulting in reclassification to continuing operations for both the current and preceding year. The impact of the change is disclosed in note 21 – 
Discontinued operations.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 31 October 2016.

Lucio Genovese
Director

The notes on pages 45 to 72 form part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2016
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          Equity 
       Share‑based   attributable Non‑ 
  Share Share Warrant Merger Hedging payment Translation Accumulated to holders of controlling  Total 
  capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses the parent Interests equity 
  US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance as at  
30 June 2014  163,441 163,600 — (1,614) — 3,690 (27,713) (125,103) 176,301 (16,999) 159,302

Comprehensive loss           

Loss for the year  — — — — — — — (10,304) (10,304) (82) (10,386)

Other comprehensive  
loss for the year           

Exchange losses on translating 
foreign operations  — — — — — — (11,570) — (11,570) (3,018) (14,588)

Loss on foreign  
exchange hedges  — — — — (1,828) — — — (1,828) (610) (2,438)

Total comprehensive  
loss for the year  — — — — (1,828) — (11,570) (10,304) (23,702) (3,710) (27,412)

Contributions by and  
distributions to owners          

Non‑controlling interest  
in subsidiary  — — — — — — — — — 1,734 1,734

Share‑based payment  
transactions  — — — — — 1,009 — — 1,009 — 1,009

Share‑based payments  
lapsed/expired  — — — — — (1,157) — 1,157 — — —

Total contributions by and  
distributions to owners — — — — — (148) — 1,157 1,009 1,734 2,743

Balance as at  
30 June 2015  163,441 163,600 — (1,614) (1,828) 3,542 (39,283) (134,250) 153,608 (18,975) 134,633

Comprehensive loss           

Profit for the year  — — — — — — — 7,884 7,884 5,724 13,608

Other comprehensive  
loss for the year  — — — — — — — — — — —

Exchange losses on translating  
foreign operations  — — — — — — (15,685) — (15,685) (4,652) (20,337)

Profit on cash flow hedges — — — — 260 — — — 260 84 344

Total comprehensive  
loss for the year  — — — — 260 — (15,685) 7,884 (7,541) 1,156 (6,385)

Contributions by and  
distributions to owners           

Shares issued in the year 52 1,080 — — — — — — 1,132 — 1,132

Warrants issued in the year† — — 7,609 — — — — — 7,609 — 7,609

Non‑controlling interest  
in subsidiary  — — — — — — — (2,749) (2,749) 4,582 1,833

Share‑based payment  
transactions  — — — — — 1,008 — — 1,008 — 1,008

Share‑based payments  
lapsed/expired  — — — — — (74) — 74 — — —

Dividends paid to minorities — — — — — — — — — (165) (165)

Total contributions by and  
distributions to owners 52 1,080 7,609 — — 934 — (2,675) 7,000 4,417 11,417

Balance as at  
30 June 2016  163,493 164,680 7,609 (1,614) (1,568) 4,476 (54,968) (129,041) 153,067 (13,402) 139,665

† Warrants issued relate to the Eurobond transaction, the details of which is disclosed in note 24. 

The notes on pages 45 to 72 form part of these financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
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        2016 2015 
       Note US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows used in operating activities   

Loss before taxation        (9,033) (10,386)

Adjustments for:   

Depreciation and amortisation      12 2,464 35

Impairment        — 2,558

Effect of foreign exchange movements      (2,615) (410)

Equity‑settled share‑based payments       775 827

(Profit)/loss on sale of assets       (3) 49

Changes in provisions        157 203

Finance income        (111) (76)

Finance cost        2,198 2,290

Net cash flows used in operating activities before working capital changes   (6,168) (4,910)

Decrease in inventories        — 126

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables      7,853 (14,077)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables      (1,307) 14,571

Net cash flows from/(used) in operating activities     378 (4,290)

Cash flows used in investing activities   

Additions to property, plant and equipment      (68,209) (83,122)

Proceeds on disposal of investments       — 214

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment     16 29

Net cash used in investing activities      (68,193) (82,879)

Cash flows from financing activities   

Minority investment in subsidiary       — 1,861

Loans received        73,400 —

Finance income        111 76

Finance cost        (12,062) (2,290)

Dividends paid to minorities       (165) —

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities      61,284 (353)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents      (6,531) (87,522)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year      17,628 107,003

Exchange rate movement on cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    (815) (1,853)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year     20 10,282 17,628

The notes on pages 45 to 72 form part of these financial statements. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2016

        2016 2015 
       Note US$’000 US$’000

ASSETS   

Non‑current assets   

Property, plant and equipment      13 — 31

Investments in subsidiaries      15 134,984 120,700

Loans to subsidiaries       17 87,873 59,526

Total non‑current assets       222,857 180,257

Current assets    

Trade and other receivables      19 — 183

Cash and cash equivalents      20 3,339 12,344

Total current assets        3,339 12,527

Total assets         226,196 192,784

EQUITY   

Share capital       22 163,493 163,441

Share premium         164,680 163,600

Reserves        12,982 4,439

Accumulated losses        (138,290) (139,164)

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company      202,865 192,316

LIABILITIES    

Non‑current liabilities   

Borrowings       25 22,140 —

Total non‑current liabilities       22,140 —

Current liabilities   

Trade and other payables      28 1,191 468

Total current liabilities        1,191 468

Total liabilities         23,331 468

Total equity and liabilities        226,196 192,784

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 31 October 2016.

Lucio Genovese
Director

The notes on pages 45 to 72 form part of these financial statements.



Firestone Diamonds plc Annual Report and Accounts 2016  | 43

Strategic Report Corporate Governance Financial Statements

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

       Share‑based   
   Share Share Warrant Translation  payment Retained Total 
   capital premium reserve reserve reserve  earnings equity 
   US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance as at 1 July 2014  163,441 163,600 — 897 3,473 (137,770) 193,641

Comprehensive loss       

Loss for the year   — — — — — (2,334) (2,334)

Total comprehensive loss for the year — — — — — (2,334) (2,334)

Contributions by and distributions  
to owners       

Share‑based payment transactions  — — — — 1,009 — 1,009

Share‑based payments lapsed/expired  — — — — (940) 940 —

Total contributions by and  
distributions to owners  — — — — 69 940 1,009

Balance as at 30 June 2015  163,441 163,600 — 897 3,542 (139,164) 192,316

Comprehensive loss       

Profit for the year   — — — — — 874 874

Total comprehensive profit for the year — — — — — 874 874

Contributions by and distributions  
to owners       

Shares issued in the year   52 1,080 — — — — 1,132

Warrants issued in the year  — — 7,609 — — — 7,609

Share‑based payment transactions  — — — — 934 — 934

Total contributions by and distributions  
to owners   52 1,080 7,609 — 934 — 9,675

Balance as at 30 June 2016  163,493 164,680 7,609 897 4,476 (138,290) 202,865

The Company had no other comprehensive income in the year.

The notes on pages 45 to 72 form part of these financial statements.
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        2016 2015 
       Note US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows used in operating activities   

Profit/(loss) before taxation        874 (2,334)

Adjustments for:   

Depreciation and amortisation      13 31 33

Increase in provisions        — 43

Effect of foreign exchange movements      — 227

Equity‑settled share‑based payments       739 814

Finance cost        2,948 —

Finance income        (6,455) (56)

Net cash flows used in operating activities before working capital changes   (1,863) (1,273)

Decrease in trade and other receivables      183 62

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables      116 (383)

Net cash used in operating activities       (1,564) (1,594)

Cash flows used in investing activities   

Acquisition of investments       (14,088) (42,094)

Loans to subsidiaries        (21,907) (34,530)

Net cash used in investing activities      (35,995) (76,624)

Cash flows from financing activities   

Proceeds from Eurobond issues       30,000 —

Finance cost        (1,460) —

Finance income        14 56

Net cash flows from financing activities       28,554 56

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents       (9,005) (78,162)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year      12,344 90,506

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year      20 3,339 12,344

The notes on pages 45 to 72 form part of these financial statements.

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
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1 Accounting policies

Basis of preparation 

Firestone Diamonds plc (the “Company”) is a company 
domiciled in the United Kingdom and is quoted on the AIM 
market of the London Stock Exchange. The consolidated 
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
30 June 2016 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as the “Group”). The Group is primarily 
involved in diamond mining and exploration in southern Africa. 

Going concern

The Group currently has two mines, Liqhobong in Lesotho 
where construction of the Liqhobong Mine Development 
Project (the “Project”) is nearing completion and BK11 in 
Botswana, which remains on care and maintenance. 

Funding for the Project was made available via an equity raise 
of US$110 million, a Eurobond facility of US$30 million and 
the ABSA debt facility of US$82.4 million. The Group has 
access to a further US$15 million standby facility to fund any 
over‑runs on the Project cost, should there be any unforeseen 
delays. Construction of the Project is nearing completion, 
and as at 30 September 2016 the Project is 98% complete. 
A total of ZAR1.8 billion was spent as at 30 September 2016, 
representing approximately 86% of the Project budget of 
ZAR2.1 billion. Completion of the Project is scheduled to occur 
in Q4 of 2016 and once fully ramped up, the main treatment 
plant will be capable of processing up to 300,000 tonnes of ore 
per month. 

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for the Group 
based on certain assumptions, and the Directors are aware that 
various uncertainties might affect the validity of their forecasts. 
These uncertainties include a delay in the commencement of 
diamond production at the Liqhobong Mine, in the first sale 
of diamonds, in reaching steady state production, operational 
risks associated with diamond mining activities as well as the 
risk of change in general market conditions and currency risk. 
The Directors are monitoring the potential risk that these 
uncertainties could arise and the working capital requirements 
of the Group on a regular basis to ensure that action will be 
taken at the appropriate time.

The Directors are confident that the existing cash resources 
and undrawn debt facilities are sufficient to complete the 
Liqhobong Project and to fund the Group’s operational 
requirements, which includes the ongoing cost of BK11 
mine’s care and maintenance program beyond the first sale 
of diamonds which is expected to take place in January 2017. 
Based on the Group’s forecasts, the Directors are furthermore 
confident that cash received in respect of revenues generated 
from the sale of diamonds recovered from Liqhobong, will 
be sufficient to fund operating expenditures at the mine, 
scheduled debt repayments to ABSA Bank Limited and other 
Group operating expenditure for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date of approval of this Annual Report. 
Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of preparation for the financial statements.

Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements of Firestone 
Diamonds plc have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board and as 
adopted for use in the European Union and with those parts 
of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS.

The following standards and interpretations have been 
applied by the Group from 1 July 2015:

• amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 
(endorsed by the European Union);

• amendments to IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements (endorsed by the European Union);

• amendments to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment 
(endorsed by the European Union);

• amendments to IAS 38, Intangible Assets (endorsed by the 
European Union);

• amendments to IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements 
(European Union endorsement expected third quarter of 
2016);

• amendments to IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other 
Entities (European Union endorsement expected third 
quarter of 2016); and

• amendments to IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures (European Union endorsement expected third 
quarter of 2016).

The application of these standards and interpretations did 
not result in any material changes to the Group’s financial 
statements. 

IFRS effective in 2016 but not relevant

The following changes and new standards and interpretations 
were mandatory for the current accounting period, but are not 
relevant to the operations of the Group:

• amendments to IAS 19, Employee Benefits (endorsed by the 
European Union);

• amendments to IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (endorsed by 
the European Union); and

• amendments to IAS 41, Agriculture (endorsed by the 
European Union).

Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

The following standards and interpretations that has been 
issued but is not yet effective have not been applied by the 
Group in these financial statements: 

• IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (issued 
28 May 2014);

• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (various issue dates); and

• IFRS 16, Leases (issued 13 Jan 2016).

The impact of the application of these standards and 
interpretations on the financial statements in future periods 
has not yet been assessed by the Group.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
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1 Accounting policies continued

Companies Act section 408 exemption

The Company has taken advantage of the exemptions allowed 
under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not 
presented its own statement of comprehensive income in 
these financial statements. The Company incurred a profit 
on ordinary activities after tax of US$874,000 (2015: loss 
US$2,334,000) in respect of the Company which is dealt with 
in the financial statements of the Company. The Company had 
other items of comprehensive income in the year of US$nil 
(2015: US$nil). 

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries and acquisitions

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the 
Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 30 June each year. 
Control is recognised where an investor is exposed to, or 
has rights, to variable returns from its investment with the 
investee, and has the ability to affect these returns through its 
power over the investee. On acquisition, the assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities of a subsidiary are measured at 
their fair value at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the 
cost of the acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable 
net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If the cost of 
the acquisition is less than the fair value of net assets of the 
subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in 
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective 
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies in 
line with those used by the Group.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra‑group balances and any unrealised gains and losses or 
income and expenses arising from intra‑group transactions are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

Business combinations and goodwill

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results 
of business combinations using the purchase method. The cost 
of an acquisition is measured as an aggregate of the fair value 
of the consideration transferred, measured at the acquisition 
date and the fair value of any previously held equity interests. 
For each business combination, the Group measures the 
non‑controlling interest in the acquiree at the proportionate 
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Subsequent 
changes in the proportion of the non‑controlling interests, 
which do not result in derecognition of the subsidiary, are 
accounted for in equity. Acquisition costs are expensed.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial 
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification 
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, 
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions at the 
acquisition date. If the business combination is achieved in 
stages, the acquisition date fair value of the Group’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value 
as at the acquisition date through profit and loss. The value 
of any non‑controlling interest acquired is measured at the 
proportional share of the acquired net identifiable assets.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group 
is recognised at fair value on the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration, 
which is deemed to be an asset or a liability, will be recognised 
in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a 
change in other comprehensive income. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured.

The results of acquired operations are included in the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income from 
the date on which control is obtained.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is written off as 
incurred, except for amounts arising on the accounting for 
business combinations. Identifiable exploration and evaluation 
acquired as part of a business combination are recognised as 
assets at their fair value, as determined by the requirements 
of IFRS 3, Business Combinations. Exploration and evaluation 
expenditure incurred subsequent to the acquisition are 
expensed as incurred.

Once a development decision has been taken, the carrying 
amount of any exploration and evaluation expenditure 
in respect of the area of interest recognised as an asset 
in accordance with the above policy is aggregated with 
subsequent development expenditure (see below).

No amortisation is recognised in respect of exploration and 
evaluation expenditure until it is reclassified as a development 
property and commercial production commences.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is tested for 
impairment annually if facts and circumstances indicate that 
impairment may exist. Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
is also tested for impairment once commercial reserves are 
found, before the assets are transferred to development 
expenditure.

Development costs

Development costs incurred by or on behalf of the Group 
or acquired from a third party are classified as a tangible 
asset included within property, plant and equipment and are 
accumulated separately for each area of interest in which 
economically recoverable resources have been identified.

Such expenditure comprises acquisition costs and other 
incurred costs directly attributable to the construction of a 
mine and the related infrastructure. This expenditure is carried 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
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Stripping costs incurred during production

To the extent that the benefit of the stripping activity results 
in improved access to ore, the directly attributable costs are 
treated as a non‑current stripping activity asset where the 
following criteria are met:

• it is probable that the future economic benefit of improved 
access to the ore body, associated with the stripping activity 
will flow to the entity;

• the entity can identify the component of the ore body for 
which access has been improved; and

• the costs relating to the stripping activity to improve access 
to the ore body can be reliably measured.

The stripping activity asset is recognised initially at cost, 
treated as an enhancement of an existing asset and not as 
an independent asset. Subsequently, the stripping activity 
asset is accounted for in the same manner as that adopted 
for the asset it has enhanced, and is depreciated on a unit 
of production method, over the expected useful life of the 
identified component of the ore body that becomes more 
accessible as a result of the stripping activity.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation 
is provided on a straight‑line basis at rates calculated to write 
off the cost less the estimated residual value of each asset over 
its expected useful economic life.

Mining and development expenditure in respect of mining 
properties in production is amortised on a unit of production 
basis reflecting the production activity in the period as a 
proportion of the total mining resource for the relevant mining 
property. The residual value is the estimated amount that 
would currently be obtained from disposal of the asset if the 
asset was already of the age and in the condition expected at 
the end of its useful life. The applicable rates are:
Mining property, development  Unit of 
expenditure and plant and equipment production method

Other equipment 3 to 10 years

Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

Office equipment and other assets 3 to 10 years

The carrying value of tangible fixed assets is assessed annually 
and any impairment is charged to the statement of profit and 
loss. The expected useful economic life and residual values of 
property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are shown at cost less 
provisions for impairment in value. The cost of acquisition 
excludes directly attributable professional fees and other 
expenses incurred in connection with the acquisition which 
is expensed as incurred. Investments in subsidiaries are all 
classified as non‑current assets.

Assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying value will 
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met if the sale 
is highly probable, the asset is available for sale in its present 
condition, being actively marketed and management is 
committed to the sale which should be expected to qualify for 
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date 
of classification.

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that 
either has been disposed of, or that is classified as held for 
sale, and represents a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations; and is a part of a single 
coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operations; or is a subsidiary 
acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Non‑current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 
are carried at the lower of carrying value or fair value less costs 
to sell. Any gain or loss from disposal of a business, together 
with the results of these operations until the date of disposal, 
is reported separately as discontinued operations. The financial 
information of discontinued operations is excluded from the 
respective captions in the consolidated financial statements 
and related notes for the current and comparative period and 
disclosed as results from discontinued operations. 

When an asset’s carrying value is no longer expected to be 
recovered through a sale transaction, but rather through the 
continued use of that asset the asset is no longer classified as 
held for sale. 

These assets are carried at the lower of carrying amount 
before the asset was classified as held for sale, adjusted for 
any depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have 
been recognised had the asset not been classified as held for 
sale or its recoverable amount at the date of the subsequent 
decision not to sell.

Any required adjustment to the carrying amount of a 
non‑current asset that ceases to be classified as held for sale is 
recognised in profit or loss from continuing operations in the 
period in which the asset’s carrying value is no longer expected 
to be recovered through a sale transaction. 

Impairment of non‑financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an 
asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable 
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the 
asset’s or cash‑generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell 
and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, 
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. 
Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written 
down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre‑tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an 
appropriate valuation model is used.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Impairment of non‑financial assets continued

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised 
in profit or loss in those expense categories consistent with 
the function of the impaired asset. For assets excluding 
goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as 
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised 
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. 
If such indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the 
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used 
to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. 
That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 
Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories comprise uncut diamonds produced, ore stockpiles, 
and consumables and spares. Inventories are valued at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Rough diamond 
inventories and ore stockpile cost is calculated on a first 
in first out basis and includes all costs directly incurred up 
to the relevant point in the process such as mining and 
processing cost, but excludes other operating costs such as 
general mine or administration costs. The net realisable value 
is determined by reference to market prices at 30 June 2016 
and 30 June 2015. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs 
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to conclude 
the sale.

Investment in financial assets

Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified 
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and receivables or available‑for‑sale financial assets as 
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, they 
are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments 
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable 
transaction costs.

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets 
on initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, 
re‑evaluates this designation at each financial year end.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include 
financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated 
upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or 
loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they 
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. 
Derivatives, including separable embedded derivatives, are 
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 
effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on investments 
held for trading are recognised in profit or loss. The fair value 
of investments that are actively traded in organised financial 
markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid 
prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables arise from normal commercial 
activities by the Group and are classified as loans and 
receivables. These are recognised at invoice value adjusted for 
any allowance for impairment. Impairment and any reversal are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non‑derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. After initial measurement, loans and 
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less any allowance for impairment. Gains 
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and 
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through 
the amortisation process. 

Available‑for‑sale financial investments

Available‑for‑sale financial assets are those non‑derivative 
financial assets that are designated as available for sale 
or are not classified as either fair value through profit and 
loss or loans and receivables. After initial measurement, 
available‑for‑sale financial assets are measured at fair value 
with unrealised gains or losses recognised directly in equity 
until the investment is derecognised or determined to be 
impaired at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recorded in equity is recognised in profit or loss. The fair value 
of investments that are actively traded in organised financial 
markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid 
prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date.

Hedging instruments

The Group’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes 
in foreign exchange rates and variable interest rates. The Group 
uses derivatives (forward exchange contracts) to offset changes 
in cash flow of highly probable forecast transactions. These 
derivatives are designated as cash flow hedges by the Group.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair 
value on the contract date and are subsequently remeasured 
to fair value at each reporting date.

The Group formally assesses on an ongoing basis whether the 
changes in cash flow of the derivatives are highly effective 
in offsetting changes in the cash flow of the hedged item. 
If these changes are deemed to be effective the changes in 
cash flow of the hedge instrument is recognised in equity. 
Amounts recognised in equity are transferred to the initial cost 
of the asset in the period during which the hedge instrument 
matures. Any ineffective element of a cash flow hedge, which 
has been designated for hedge accounting, is recognised 
through profit and loss.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
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Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities as:

Interest‑bearing loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair 
value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial 
recognition, interest‑bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
amortisation process. Amortised interest arising in respect of 
loans and borrowings specifically allocated to the development 
of mining assets and production plant is capitalised on a 
pro‑rata basis into the cost of the related asset using a 
weighted‑average interest rate applicable to the amount 
of the loans allocated.

Trade and other payables

These are initially recognised at invoiced value. These arise 
principally from the receipt of goods and services. There is no 
material difference between the invoiced value and the value 
calculated on an amortised cost basis.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect 
is material, provisions are determined by discounting the 
expected future cash flows at a pre‑tax rate that reflects the 
current market assessment of the time value of money and, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Decommissioning and site rehabilitation

An obligation to incur decommissioning and site rehabilitation 
costs occurs when environmental disturbance is caused by 
exploration, evaluation, development or ongoing production. 
Costs are estimated on the basis of a formal closure plan and 
local regulatory requirements. These provisions are subject to 
regular review.

Decommissioning and site rehabilitation costs arising from 
development activity or from the installation of plant and 
other site preparation work are provided for when the 
obligation to incur such costs arises and are capitalised as 
a component of the related assets. These costs are charged 
against profits through amortisation or impairment of 
the asset. Amortisation and impairment are included in 
operating costs.

Changes in the discounted amount of estimated restoration 
costs are charged to profit or loss during the period in which 
such changes occur. Estimated restoration costs are reviewed 
annually and discounted using the Company’s weighted 
average cost of capital rate, which reflects the Company’s 
assessments of the time value of money. The increase in 
restoration provisions, owing to the passage of time, is charged 
to interest paid. All other changes in the carrying amount of 
the provision subsequent to initial recognition are recognised 
against the carrying value of the decommissioning asset in the 
statement of financial position.

Revenue

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can 
be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates, 
and other sales taxes or duty. Diamond sales are conducted 
through a competitive tender process where bids for specific 
parcels of diamonds are made, and the highest bid above 
the reserve price for the parcel is accepted provisionally until 
funds are received, at which point the parcel is released to the 
winning bidder. Revenue is recognised when the tender closes 
and the winning bids are accepted.

Other income

Other income is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
other income can be reliably measured. Other income is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received, 
excluding discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes or duty.

Borrowing cost

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset 
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset until such 
time as the asset is ready for its intended use. The amount 
of borrowing cost eligible for capitalisation is determined 
as follows:

• actual borrowing cost on funds specifically borrowed for the 
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less any temporary 
investment of those borrowings; and

• weighted average of the borrowing cost applicable to the 
entity on funds generally borrowed for the purpose of 
obtaining a qualifying asset. The borrowing cost capitalised 
do not exceed the total borrowing cost incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing cost commences when:

• expenditures for the asset have occurred;

• borrowing costs have been incurred; and

• activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its 
intended use or sale are in progress.

Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in which 
active development is interrupted.

Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities 
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use 
or sale are complete.

All other borrowing cost is recognised as an expense in the 
period in which they are incurred.
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1 Accounting policies continued

Share capital and reserves

Share capital

Share capital is the amount subscribed for share capital at the 
nominal value.

Share premium

Share premium is the amount subscribed for share capital in 
excess of nominal value.

Warrant reserve

Warrant reserve is the value of warrants issued by the 
Company for subscription by warrant holders.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents amounts arising from the 
merger accounting for subsidiary investments under UK GAAP 
on formation of the Group.

Hedge reserve

The hedge reserve represents gains/(losses) arising on the 
effective portion of hedging instruments carried at fair value in 
a qualifying cash flow hedge, that was accounted for through 
other comprehensive income.

Share‑based payment reserve

The share‑based payment reserve represents amounts where 
the entity recognises the increases and decreases in equity for 
equity‑settled share‑based payment transactions.

Translation reserve

These are the gains/(losses) arising on retranslating the 
net assets of overseas operations into US$, the Group’s 
presentation currency.

Accumulated losses

All other net gains and losses and transactions with owners 
(e.g. dividends) not recognised elsewhere.

Share‑based payment transactions

Certain employees (including Directors and senior Executives) 
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share‑based 
payments, whereby employees render services as consideration 
for equity instruments (equity‑settled transactions).

The cost of equity‑settled transactions with employees 
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date on 
which they are granted. The fair value is determined using an 
appropriate pricing model.

The cost of equity‑settled transactions is recognised, together 
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in 
which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, 
ending on the date on which the relevant employees become 
fully entitled to the award (the vesting date).

The cumulative expense recognised for equity‑settled 
transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and 
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments 
that will ultimately vest. The profit or loss charge or credit 
for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense 
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately 
vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a 
market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of 
whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that 
all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied. 
Where the terms of an equity‑settled award are modified, the 
minimum expense recognised is the expense as if the terms 
had not been modified. An additional expense is recognised 
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the 
share‑based payment arrangement or is otherwise beneficial to 
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity‑settled award is cancelled, it is treated as 
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense 
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. 
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, 
and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is 
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they 
were a modification of the original award, as described in the 
previous paragraph. 

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of Earnings 
Per Share.

Operating leases

Operating lease rentals are charged to income in equal annual 
amounts over the lease term.

Foreign currency

The individual financial statements of each Group entity 
are presented in the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (its functional 
currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial 
statements, the results and financial position of each entity are 
expressed in US Dollars which is the presentation currency for 
the Group and Company financial statements. The functional 
currency of the Company is the US Dollar.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, 
transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each 
balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the 
balance sheet date.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 
items and on the retranslation of monetary items is included in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period.
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For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial 
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign 
operations are expressed in US Dollars using exchange rates 
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items 
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. 
Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as other 
comprehensive income and are transferred to the Group’s 
translation reserve.

Foreign currency movements arising from the Group’s net 
investment, which comprises equity and long‑term debt, in 
subsidiary companies whose functional currency is not the US 
Dollar are recognised in the translation reserve, included within 
equity until such time as the relevant subsidiary company 
is sold, whereupon the net cumulative foreign exchange 
difference relating to the disposal is transferred to profit 
and loss. 

Taxation

Income tax expense or taxation recoverable represents the sum 
of the tax currently payable or recoverable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the 
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 
income statement because it excludes items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it 
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. 
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates 
that have been enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation 
of taxable profit, and are accounted for using the balance 
sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each 
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax 
is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. 

Deferred tax is charged or credited to the income statement, 
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly in 
other comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is 
also dealt with in other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Group 
has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and 
liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to 
taxes levied by the same tax authority on either the same 
taxable Group company or different Group entities which 
intend to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, 
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, 
in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred 
tax assets or liabilities are expected to be settled or recovered.

2 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning 
the future, which by definition will seldom result in actual 
results that match the accounting estimate. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

Share‑based payments

In order to calculate the charge for share‑based compensation 
as required by IFRS 2, the Group makes estimates principally 
relating to the assumptions used in its option‑pricing model as 
set out in note 23.

Warrants

In order to calculate the fair value of warrants issued as 
required by IAS 32, the Group makes estimates principally 
relating to the assumptions used in its warrant‑pricing model 
as set out in note 24.

Rehabilitation provisions

The Group makes estimates of future site restoration costs 
(rehabilitation provisions) based upon current legislation in 
Botswana and Lesotho and technical reports and estimates 
provided by the Group’s senior employees and advisers. These 
estimates will be affected by actual legislation in place, actual 
mining activity to be performed and actual conditions of the 
relevant sites when the restoration activity is to be performed 
in future periods.

Impairment testing

The recoverable amounts of cash‑generating units and 
individual assets have been determined based on the higher 
of value‑in‑use calculations and fair value less costs to sell. 
In determining the future cash flows per cash‑generating unit 
management makes a number of significant estimates and 
judgements including the following:

• estimated reserves and resources;

• estimated life of mine;

• estimated diamond price per carat;

• recovery and productivity rates;

• inflation rate; and

• exchange rates.

It is reasonably possible that assumptions may change, 
which may impact our estimates and may then require a 
material adjustment to the carrying value of tangible and 
intangible assets.

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of tangible and 
intangible assets when events or changes in circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable 
cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other 
assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment 
may have occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future 
cash flows for each group of assets and of the likely disposal 
proceeds and related costs. 
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2 Critical accounting estimates and judgements continued

Impairment testing continued

Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use 
of tangible and intangible assets are inherently uncertain and 
could change materially over time. 

The Group currently has two main cash‑generating units:

Liqhobong Mine

The Liqhobong Mine is currently ramping up production. 
Management has determined that at this stage no indication 
for impairment exists for the Liqhobong Mine. The Group 
currently has sufficient access to cash and debt facilities 
to complete the Project, valued at US$185.4 million. Once 
completed the Group estimates a life of mine of 15 years with 
an expected net present value of US$389 million as announced 
on 6 October 2015.

BK11 mine

Management decided to reclassify the Botswana operations 
to continuing operations as at 30 June 2016 due to Tango 
Mining Limited being unable to meet the conditions of the sale 
agreement entered into on 9 July 2015. The Group recognises 
the BK11 mine at its carrying value of US$6.8 million.  

Fair value measurement

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy. The fair value 
hierarchy prioritises the inputs to valuation techniques used 
to measure fair value. The Group uses the following hierarchy 
for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments and other assets and liabilities for which the fair 
value was used:

• level 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities;

• level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and

• level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Valuation of hedges

The fair value of open forward foreign exchange contracts were 
measured using the current market exchange rate that would 
have been obtained if the forward foreign exchange contract 
was entered into on the last day of the financial year for the 
remaining period of the forward foreign exchange contract. 

Cash flow forecasts

As part of determining whether the going concern assumption 
is appropriate management assesses the cash flow forecasts 
prepared. The cash flow forecast includes a number of critical 
estimates and judgements. These estimates and judgements 
include:

• estimated Project completion date;

• estimated cost to complete the Project;

• estimated diamond price per carat;

• estimated production costs

• inflation rate; and

• US$:ZAR exchange rate.

It is management’s policy to obtain sufficient supporting 
evidence from the external sources such as analyst predictions, 
global supply and demand curves for diamond price estimates 
as well as internal sources such as the Group’s diamonds 
sales history and size distribution to ensure that the cash flow 
forecast is as accurate as possible. 

Deferred tax assets

The recognition of deferred tax assets is based upon whether 
sufficient and suitable taxable profits will be available in the 
future against which the reversal of temporary differences 
can be deducted. Recognition of deferred tax assets therefore 
involves judgement regarding the future financial performance 
of the particular legal entity or tax group in which the 
deferred tax asset has been recognised. Where the temporary 
differences are related to losses, relevant tax law is considered 
to determine the availability of the losses to offset against the 
future taxable profits.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements in are derived from the Group’s best estimation 
and judgement as set out in note 14. 

3 Segmental analysis

For management purposes, the Group is organised into 
geographical units as the Group’s risks and required rates of 
return are affected by differences in the geographical regions 
of the mines and areas in which the Group operates. The 
Group operated in the year in one sector – diamond mining, 
exploration and development – and in two principal geographic 
areas – Lesotho and Botswana. The management information 
received by the Chief Executive Officer and the Board is 
prepared on this basis. The management information is used by 
the Chief Executive Officer as the basis for decision making.

The Group also conducts business within the UK and South 
Africa including ad hoc raising of funds, subsequently passed 
to subsidiary companies, and incurring of expenditure in 
relation to the Company’s activities as a holding company. 
None of this activity is considered to be significantly different 
to the principal activity of the Group within the southern 
African region.
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The following table presents revenue, profit, asset and liability information regarding the Group’s geographical segments:
 Lesotho Botswana United Kingdom and other Total
   
  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 
  US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Other income  450 — — — — — 450 —

Segmental operating result (499) (516) (2,277) (3,234) (4,170) (4,422) (6,946) (8,172)

Finance income  95 — — — 16 76 111 76

Finance expense  (1,846) — — — (352) (2,290) (2,198) (2,290)

Taxation  22,641 — — — — — 22,641 —

Segmental result  20,391 (516) (2,277) (3,234) (4,506) (6,636) 13,608 (10,386)

Segmental assets  203,741 139,274 6,847 9,230 3,567 13,292 214,155 161,796

Segmental liabilities  (49,323) (24,639) (1,493) (1,530) (23,674) (994) (74,490) (27,163)

Other segmental information       

Capital expenditure:        

Property, plant and equipment 68,209 83,073 — — — 49 68,209 83,122

Depreciation, amortisation:         

Property, plant and equipment 643 — 1,774 — 47 35 2,464 35

Receipts:        

Long‑term loans  43,400 — — — 30,000 — 73,400 —

4 Operating loss
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Operating loss for the year is stated after charging:  

Depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment (note 12)    2,464 35

Employee costs (note 5)        3,192 2,997

Operating lease rentals         264 244

Share‑based payments (note 23)       775 827

5 Employee numbers and costs

The average number of persons employed in the Group during the year, including the Executive Director, was:
 Group

        2016 2015 
        Number Number

Operations        42 36

Administration        19 19

        61 55

The employment benefits were as follows:   
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Wages and salaries        2,404 2,119

Social security cost        13 51

Share‑based payments        775 827

        3,192 2,997
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6 Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emoluments for the period that each individual served as a Director were as follows:
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Short‑term employee benefits       1,022 1,155

Post‑employment benefits       — —

Share‑based payments        668 668

Total        1,690 1,823

      Salaries  Share‑based  
      and fees Bonus payments  Total 
Director      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2016

Stuart Brown      500 42 668† 1,210

Lucio Genovese      120 — — 120

Keith Johnson      60 — — 60

Braam Jonker      60 — — 60

Ken Owen      60 — — 60

Paul Sobie      60 — — 60

Mike Wittet      60 — — 60

Niall Young      60 — — 60

      980 42 668 1,690

2015    

Stuart Brown      500 225§ 668† 1,393

Lucio Genovese      120 — — 120

Keith Johnson      10 — — 10

Braam Jonker      60 — — 60

Ken Owen      60 — — 60

Paul Sobie      60 — — 60

Mike Wittet      60 — — 60

Niall Young      60 — — 60

      930 225 668 1,823

† The share‑based payment expense relates to share options issued to Stuart Brown in May 2014. The share options vest over a three‑year period and the 
expense is recognised over the vesting period.

§ Included in the bonus amount paid to Stuart Brown is an amount of US$100,000 which relates to the 2014 financial year and was authorised in the 
2015 financial year.

7 Auditor’s remuneration
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Fees payable to the Group’s auditor for the audit of the Group’s annual financial statements  

Audit of the Group’s financial statements      104 78

Fees payable to the Group’s auditor and its associates for other services  

Audit of accounts of subsidiaries of the Company      22 31

Taxation compliance services       20 20

Other taxation services        28 42

        174 171
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8 Net finance income and costs
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Interest income on bank deposits       111 76

Finance income        111 76

Interest paid on overdrawn accounts       110 —

Unwinding of discount on rehabilitation liability      137 —

Foreign exchange adjustments on cash balances      1,951 2,290

Finance costs         2,198 2,290

During the year, borrowing cost to the value of US$4.5 million (2015: US$1.8 million) was capitalised to the cost of the Liqhobong 
Mine Development Project. 

9 Impairment of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Impairment of plant and equipment used in mining operations      — 2,558

Management impaired its Botswana operations, including the BK11 mine, by US$2,588,000 in June 2015. This was in addition to 
the previous impairment of US$3,753,000 when the BK11 mine was initially placed on care and maintenance in February 2012. 
The Group classified its Botswana operations as held for sale in the 2015 Annual Report and Accounts as it was in a formal 
disposal process. As the conditions to classify these assets as held for sale are no longer met, the Botswana operations are 
reclassified to continuing operations.

No further impairment is considered necessary for the year ended 30 June 2016 as the carrying amount of the Botswana 
operations is less than its recoverable amount. The carrying amount before the disposal group was classified as held for sale, 
adjusted for any depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had the asset not been classified as 
held for sale is US$6.8 million.

Fair value measurement

The fair value of the net assets of the BK11 mine was determined by reference to the sale price noted in the conditional sale 
agreement entered into with Tango Mining Limited. The fair value measurement is categorised as level 3 non‑recurring fair value 
measurements. 

The following table sets out the valuation techniques used in the determination of fair values within level 3 including the key 
unobservable inputs used and the relationship between unobservable inputs to fair value:

Item and valuation technique Key unobservable inputs Relationship between unobservable inputs to fair value

Assets held for sale

Formal disposal 
process

Offer to purchase The fair value was determined by placing the assets up for sale to willing 
and able buyers. There is no current active market for these type of assets, 
thus the fair value was determined by using the highest offer to purchase 
following a formal disposal process. 
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10 Taxation 
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Current tax        — —

Deferred tax credit        22,641 —

Total tax credit for the year       22,641 —

The difference between the total tax credit shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate of UK 
corporation tax to the loss before tax is as follows:

Factors affecting the tax charge for the year

The reasons for the difference between the actual tax credit and the standard rate of corporation tax of 20% (2015: 20.75%) in 
the United Kingdom applied to the loss for the year are as follows:
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Loss before tax         (9,033)  (10,386)

Tax on loss at standard rate of 20% (2015: 20.75%)     (1,807) (2,155)

Effect of tax in foreign jurisdictions       (1,397) 344

Effect of the change in the standard tax rate      126 (18)

Foreign exchange adjustment on effective interest rate on borrowings    307 —

Recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets     (19,871) —

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes      1 (290)

Adjustments to deferred tax not recognised      — 2,119

        (22,641) —

Other comprehensive income

There is no tax movement arising in respect of the Group’s other comprehensive income.

11 Profit/(loss) per share

The calculation of the basic profit per share is based upon the net profit after tax attributable to ordinary shareholders of 
US$7.9 million (2015: US$10.3 million loss, after the reallocation of US$3.2 million loss from discontinued operations) and a 
weighted average number of shares in issue for the year of 310,377,720 (2015: 308,992,814).

Diluted profit/(loss) per share

The calculation of the dilutive profit or loss per share is based upon the net profit after tax attributable to ordinary shareholders 
of US$7.9 million (2015: US$10.3 million after reallocation of US$3.2 million loss from discontinued operations). The weighted 
average number of shares in issue for the year of 312,373,475 (2015: 308,992,814), includes potentially issuable shares in respect 
of share options issued to employees of 1,995,755 (2015: nil).

The diluted loss per share in 2015 from continuing operations is the same as the basic loss per share as the potential ordinary 
shares to be issued have no dilutive effect.

The Company has a further 13,544,834 (2015: 15,052,200) potentially issuable shares in respect of share options issued to 
employees (note 23) that do not have a dilutive effect as at 30 June 2016 and 48,786,437 (2015: nil) potentially issuable shares 
in respect of warrants issued to strategic investors. 
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12 Property, plant and equipment – Group
      Mining  Plant and Motor vehicles  
US$’000      property equipment and other assets Total

Cost    

At 1 July 2014      53,177 25,541 2,351 81,069

Additions      83,708 11 168 83,887

Disposals      — — (81) (81)

Reclassification      7,768 (7,768) — —

Exchange difference      (14,139) (268) (115) (14,522)

At 30 June 2015      130,514 17,516 2,323 150,353

Additions      71,652 — 233 71,885

Disposals      — — (45) (45)

Exchange difference      (23,381) (1,695) (246) (25,322)

At 30 June 2016      178,785 15,821 2,265 196,871

Accumulated depreciation     

At 1 July 2014      9,849 10,748 1,364 21,961

Charge for the year       — — 35 35

Disposals      — — (34) (34)

Reclassification      2,179 (2,179) — —

Exchange difference      (1,664) (164) (57) (1,885)

At 30 June 2015      10,364 8,405 1,308 20,077

Charge for the year      652 1,599 213 2,464

Disposals      — — (32) (32)

Exchange difference      (1,763) (889) (127) (2,779)

At 30 June 2016      9,253 9,115 1,362 19,730

Net book value at 1 July 2014     43,328 14,793 987 59,108

Net book value at 30 June 2015     120,150 9,111 1,015 130,276

Net book value at 30 June 2016     169,532 6,706 903 177,141

The Group capitalised total net borrowing costs of US$4.5 million (2015: US$1.8 million) as part of the cost of the Project. 
All borrowing costs capitalised are Project specific.

The Group transferred US$9.0 million from assets held for sale relating to the BK11 mine which is no longer classified as held for 
sale. Refer to note 21 – Discontinued operations for further details. 

 13 Property, plant and equipment – Company
        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Office furniture and computer equipment  

Cost  

At 1 July         161 161

Additions        — —

At 30 June         161 161

Accumulated depreciation  

At 1 July        130 97

Charge for the year        31 33

At 30 June         161 130

Net book value at beginning of year       31 64

Net book value at end of year       — 31
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14 Deferred tax 

The deferred tax included in the balance sheet is as follows:
 Group

        2016 2015 
Deferred tax asset/(liability)        US$’000 US$’000

At 1 July        (3,480) (4,038)

Movement in temporary differences recognised in income     22,641 —

Exchange difference        214 558

Income tax credits receivable       873 —

At 30 June        20,248 (3,480)

The deferred tax asset/(liability) comprises:
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Accelerated capital allowances       (37,718) —

Provisions        502 —

Borrowings        (2,471) —

Losses available for offsetting against future taxable income     61,954 —

Income tax credits available for offsetting against future taxable income    873 —

Temporary difference arising on acquisition of subsidiary     (2,892) (3,480)

        20,248 (3,480)

The Liqhobong Mine Development Project (“LMDP”) is expected to be completed in the second quarter of the June 2017 financial 
year. The Directors considered the financial model of the LMDP and the model provides convincing evidence that sufficient taxable 
profit will be generated from operations in the foreseeable future to offset unused tax losses. Based on current forecasts the 
Group expects to deplete the tax losses over the next four years. 

Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax 
assets where the Directors believe it is probable that these assets will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relating to the same tax authorities have been disclosed as a net asset or liability. 

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of approximately US$61.4 million (2015: US$235.6 million), and unrecognised accelerated 
capital allowances of US$13.4 million (2015: US$18.9 million).

15 Investments in subsidiaries – Company
        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

At 1 July        120,700 78,565

Additions        14,088 42,094

Share‑based payments to employees of subsidiaries     196 41

At 30 June         134,984 120,700
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As at 30 June 2016, the Company had direct and indirect holdings in the following subsidiary undertakings:
         Effective 
         percentage of 
         shares held 
Subsidiary        Country by Company

Diamond mining and exploration companies  

Firestone Diamonds (Botswana) (Pty) Limited     Botswana 100%

Infrastructure Projects (Pty) Limited      Lesotho 49%

Liqhobong Mining Development Company (Pty) Limited    Lesotho 75%

Ilmari Exploration OY       Finland 100%

Monak Ventures (Pty) Limited      Botswana 90%

Investment holding companies  

Becksham Corporation       Barbados 100%

Becksham Limited       British Virgin Islands 100%

European Diamonds Limited      British Virgin Islands 100%

Firestone Diamonds Limited†      British Virgin Islands 100%

Kopane Diamond Developments Limited†     United Kingdom 100%

Minegem Inc.       Canada 100%

Management company  

Firestone Diamonds (Pty) Limited      South Africa 100%

Dormant companies  

Kuboes Diamante (Pty) Limited      South Africa 87.5%

Maskam Resources (Pty) Limited      South Africa 100%

Oena Mine (Pty) Limited       South Africa 87.5%

† Company in which Firestone Diamonds plc has a direct holding.

All subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements.

16 Non‑controlling interest

The Group currently has two subsidiaries with significant non‑controlling interest. The Group owns 75% of Liqhobong Mining 
Development Company (Pty) Limited and 49% of Infrastructure Projects (Pty) Limited. The non‑controlling interest of all 
other subsidiaries that are not 100% owned by the Group is considered to be immaterial. Summarised financial information in 
relation to these two subsidiaries, before intra‑group eliminations, is presented below together with amounts attributable to 
non‑controlling interest:
 Group

        2016 2015 
Items included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income:     US$’000 US$’000

Other income        2,345 —

Administrative expenses        (2,626)  (139)

Loss before finance charges and income tax      (281)  (139)

Finance income        95 —

Finance cost        (544) —

Loss before income tax        (730)  (139)

Income tax        22,641 —

Profit/(loss) after tax for the year       21,911  (139)

Profit/(loss) after tax allocated to non‑controlling interest     5,759 (35)

Other comprehensive loss allocated to non‑controlling interest     (4,808)  (3,975)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) allocated to non‑controlling interest    951  (4,010)
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16 Non‑controlling interest continued

 Group

        2016 2015 
Items included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:      US$’000 US$’000

Assets  

Non‑current assets  

Property, plant and equipment       163,085 99,677

Deferred taxation        22,323 —

Current assets  

Inventories        19 23

Trade and other debtors        5,043 13,256

Cash and cash equivalents       6,562 4,083

Total assets        197,032 117,039

Liabilities  

Non‑current liabilities  

Borrowings        33,518 —

Rehabilitation provisions        2,009 1,734

Loans from Group companies       186,885 149,209

Current liabilities  

Trade and other payables       14,092 16,733

Other financial liabilities        1,688 2,438

Provisions        343 148

Total liabilities        238,535 170,262

Translation reserve        (19,614) (13,416)

Accumulated non‑controlling interests      (14,545) (16,660)

17 Loans to subsidiaries
 Company

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Kopane Diamond Developments Limited      65,854 45,758

Firestone Diamonds Limited       5,573 5,053

Firestone Diamonds (Pty) Limited       2,524 1,265

Liqhobong Mining Development Company (Pty) Limited     13,902 7,437

Other         20 13

        87,873 59,526

Non‑current assets        87,873 59,526

Current assets        — —

Total assets        87,873 59,526

The loan to Kopane Diamond Developments Limited bears interest at 12.5% (2015: 11.0%), is unsecured and is repayable in 
equal instalments over 60 months from the time that the ABSA debt facility, which is provided directly to Liqhobong Mining 
Development Company (Pty) Limited and Company debt have been repaid. 

Other loans to related parties bear no interest, are unsecured and have no fixed terms of repayment.
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18 Loan receivable
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Government of Lesotho        2,816 —

        2,816 —

Non‑current assets        2,816 —

Current assets        — —

Total assets        2,816 —

The loan to the Government of Lesotho currently bears interest at 12.5% (2015: 11.0%), is unsecured and is repayable out of 
dividends declared by Liqhobong Mining Development Company (Pty) Limited. 

19 Trade and other receivables
 Group Company
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Other receivables      2,715 3,687 — 80

Prepayments      705 9,935 — 103

      3,420 13,622 — 183

Other receivables relate to value added taxation due from mainly the Lesotho Revenue Authority. Prepayments relate to margin 
deposits paid on open foreign exchange contracts at year end and advances paid to suppliers to the Project. None of the trade and 
other receivables are past due date or considered to be impaired, and there is no significant difference between the fair value of 
the trade and other receivables and the values stated above.

20 Cash and cash equivalents
 Group Company
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cash and cash equivalents held for continuing operations   10,282 17,628 3,339 12,344

      10,282 17,628 3,339 12,344

Net cash and cash equivalents were represented by the following major currencies:
 Group Company
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

British Pounds      549 5,296 387 4,539

US Dollars       7,380 7,812 2,952 7,804

Botswana Pula      77 98 — —

South African Rand      146 387 — 1

Lesotho Maloti      2,130 4,035 — —

Cash and cash equivalents     10,282 17,628 3,339 12,344

Cash deposits of US$69,500 (2015: US$45,000) are held in favour of various suppliers in Botswana and Lesotho.
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20 Cash and cash equivalents continued

Effective interest rates and repricing analysis

In respect of income‑earning financial assets and liabilities, the following table indicates their effective interest rates at 
30 June 2016 and the periods in which they mature or, if earlier, are repriced.

The effective interest rates and repricing analysis was:
     Effective Total Current 1‑2 years 2‑5 years 
Group     interest rate US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2016 

Cash and cash equivalents    0.03% 10,282 10,282 — —

Eurobonds     12.33% (22,140) — — (22,140)

ABSA debt facility     9.60% (32,637) (4,680) (19,529) (8,428)

2015     

Cash and cash equivalents    0.03% 17,628 17,628 — —

     Effective Total Current 1‑2 years 2‑5 years 
Company     interest rate US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

2016 

Cash and cash equivalents    0.03% 3,339 3,339 — —

Loans to subsidiaries     12.00% 65,854 — — 65,854

Eurobonds     12.33% (22,140) — — (22,140)

2015     

Cash and cash equivalents    0.03% 12,344 12,344 — —

Loans to subsidiaries     11.00% 45,758 — — 45,758

There is no significant difference between the fair value of the loans to subsidiaries, borrowings and cash and cash equivalents’ 
values stated above. 

21 Discontinued operations

BK11 mine

Management decided not to recognise the Group’s BK11 mine as held for sale as at 30 June 2016 as described in note 32 – 
Post‑balance sheet events. 

The Company’s Botswana operations will remain under care and maintenance whilst Management is focused on the completion 
and commissioning of its Liqhobong Diamond Mine in Lesotho. Management remain committed to seeking ways of unlocking 
shareholder value from the Group’s Botswana assets. 

As required by accounting standards, certain comparative figures have been reclassified. The effects of the reclassification are as follows:
 2015

        Disposal 
         group 
         reclassified  
       Before to continuing  After 
       classification operations reclassification  
Items included in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income:    US$’000 US$’000  US$’000

Other administrative expenses      (490) (155) (645)

Impairment       — (2,558) (2,558)

Care and maintenance expenses      — (521) (521)

Loss from continuing operations before finance charges and income tax   (4,938) (3,234) (8,172)

Finance income       76 — 76

Finance costs       (2,290) — (2,290)

Loss from continuing operations before tax     (7,152) (3,234) (10,386)

Loss from discontinued operations      (3,234) 3,234 —

Loss for the year after tax      (10,386) — (10,386)
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 2015

        Disposal 
         group 
         reclassified  
       Before to continuing  After 
       classification operations reclassification  
Items included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position:     US$’000 US$’000  US$’000

Non‑current assets    

Property, plant and equipment      121,266 9,010 130,276

Current assets   

Inventories       67 203 270

Trade and other debtors       13,605 17 13,622

Total assets held for sale reclassified     134,938 9,230 144,168

Non‑current liabilities   

Rehabilitation provisions       1,746 1,332 3,078

Current liabilities   

Provisions       192 198 390

Total liabilities of a disposal group reclassified     1,938 1,530 3,468

22 Share capital

The Company’s share capital consists of one class of ordinary shares and two classes of deferred shares. As at 30 June 2016, the 
ordinary share capital of the Company was 312,574,644 ordinary shares of 1 pence each (2015: 308,992,814).

During the year the Company issued 3,581,830 new ordinary shares of 1 pence each in respect of the quarterly interest due on 
the Eurobonds.
 Number of shares Nominal value of shares
   
        2016 2015 
     2016  2015 US$’000 US$’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid    

Opening balance    308,992,814 308,992,814 3,474 3,474

Issued during the year    3,581,830 — 52 —

Closing balance    312,574,644 308,992,814 3,526 3,474

Deferred type A shares    

Opening balance    7,079,649,109 7,079,649,109 113,345 113,345

Closing balance    7,079,649,109 7,079,649,109 113,345 113,345

Deferred type B shares    

Opening balance    308,992,814 308,992,814 46,622 46,622

Closing balance    308,992,814 308,992,814 46,622 46,622

Total    7,701,216,567 7,697,634,737 163,493 163,441

Firestone Diamonds Limited, a subsidiary company, has advanced funds to the Group’s Employee Share Trust of US$181,329. 
The Employee Share Trust holds 30,853 ordinary shares in Firestone Diamonds plc. These shares have not been allocated to 
any employees.
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23 Equity‑settled share option schemes 

The Group and Company issue equity‑settled share‑based payments to employees and Directors. Equity‑settled share‑based 
payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non‑market‑based vesting conditions) as determined at the date of 
grant, using the Black‑Scholes technique. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity‑settled share‑based payments 
is expensed on a straight‑line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s and Company’s estimate of shares that will 
eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non‑market‑based vesting conditions.

The inputs into the Black‑Scholes model for the share options issued during the year are as follows:
        2016 2015

Weighted average share price       31.4p 35.2p

Weighted average option exercise prices      70.7p 72.5p

Expected volatility        35% 24%

Expected option life        5 years 5 years

Risk‑free interest rate        0.82% 1.43%

Expected dividend yield        0% 0%

Fair‑value of option granted in the year      40.7 54.3p

The calculation of the volatility of the share price was based on the Company’s daily closing share price over the historic period of 
the expected option life as at the date of grant.

Details of the total share options outstanding in respect of the Basic Share Option Scheme and the Performance‑Related Share 
Option Scheme during the year are as follows:
 Number of Weighted average 
 share options exercise price (pence)
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015

Outstanding at beginning of year     15,052,200 13,680,005 48.0 59.4

Granted during the year      1,032,714 1,512,195 40.7 34.5

Lapsed or expired in the year     (544,325) (140,000) 62.3 112.9

Outstanding at the end of the year     15,540,589 15,052,200 70.7 48.0

Exercisable at the end of the year     2,491,000 2,391,000 173.6 111.5

The options outstanding as at 30 June 2016 have a weighted average contractual life of five years (2015: five years). 
These options have an exercise price ranging from 26.5 pence to 275.0 pence (2015: a range of 26.5 pence to 275.0 pence). 
The options exercisable at 30 June have an exercise price ranging from 85.0 pence to 275.0 pence (2015: a range of 85.0 pence 
to 275.0 pence). No options were exercised during the year. 
 Group Company
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Charge for the year allocated to the Company    738 814 738 814

Charge for the year allocated to subsidiary companies   271 195 271 195

Total charge for the year      1,009 1,009 1,009 1,009

Amount capitalised to the cost of the Liqhobong Mine Development Project  (234) (182) — —

Amount capitalised to investments     — — (271) (41)

Charge for the year in profit and loss     775 827 738 968

Basic Share Option Scheme
  Exercise period Share options held at Exercise price
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
Date of grant    From To number number pence pence

06/12/2007    06/12/2008 05/12/2017 6,000 6,000 200.0 200.0

19/12/2007    19/12/2008 18/12/2017 15,000 15,000 200.0 200.0

15/01/2008    15/01/2009 14/01/2019 20,000 20,000 200.0 200.0

17/05/2011    17/05/2012 16/05/2022 16,666 16,666 275.0 275.0

17/05/2011    17/05/2014 16/05/2022 16,667 16,667 275.0 275.0

17/05/2011    17/05/2015 16/05/2022 16,667 16,667 275.0 275.0

      91,000 91,000  
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Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme
  Exercise period Share options held at Exercise price
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
Date of grant    From To number number pence pence

23/11/2014    23/11/2014 23/11/2022 200,000 200,000 85.0 85.0

23/11/2014    23/11/2015 23/11/2022 300,000 300,000 85.0 85.0

23/11/2014    23/11/2015 23/11/2022 300,000 300,000 85.0 85.0

23/11/2014    23/11/2015 23/11/2022 100,000 100,000 85.0 85.0

27/05/2015    27/05/2015 26/05/2024 829,345 829,345 38.8 38.8

15/01/2015    15/01/2015 14/01/2024 9,101,281 9,101,281 30.0 30.0

30/06/2015    30/06/2015 29/06/2024 891,290 1,118,379 38.8 38.8

01/09/2014    01/09/2014 31/08/2024 — 164,930 38.6 38.6

01/09/2014    01/09/2014 31/08/2024 339,380 339,380 37.3 37.3

01/10/2014    01/10/2014 30/09/2024 203,074 355,380 36.5 36.5

01/11/2014    01/11/2014 31/10/2024 222,292 222,292 33.8 33.8

01/05/2015    01/05/2015 30/04/2025 430,213 430,213 26.5 26.5

06/10/2015    30/04/2015 29/04/2025 737,653 — 26.5 —

06/10/2015    30/04/2015 29/04/2025 295,061 — 26.5 —

      13,949,589 13,461,200  

Unapproved Share Option Scheme
  Exercise period Share options held at Exercise price
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
Date of grant    From To number number pence pence

23/11/2012    23/11/2012 22/11/2022 1,500,000 1,500,000 85.0 85.0

Share option settlement scheme

To minimise the share capital dilution that would arise on the exercise of options, the Company has implemented a share option 
settlement scheme. Under this scheme the Company will, at the time of exercise of any options, agree to issue shares to the 
option holder with a value equal to the difference between the market value of the shares and the option exercise price on the 
date of exercise. On the basis of this scheme, the effective dilution resulting from all outstanding basic and performance‑related 
options as at 30 June 2016 at the average share price for the year of 31.4 pence per share was 1,995,755 shares as a result of it 
trading above the exercisable price limit (2015: average share price of 35.2 pence, therefore no dilutive shares were exercisable).

Long‑Term Incentive Plan

The Company has established a Long‑Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) for the benefit of senior management. The LTIP had nil 
(2015: nil) shares available to participants. 

No additional shares have been allocated during the year.
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24 Warrant reserve

As part of the funding package the Group issued warrants to its strategic investors Resource Capital Fund VI L.P. (“RCF”), Pacific 
Road Resources Fund II L.P. and Pacific Road Resources Fund II (“Pacific Road”). In terms of the Series A Eurobond the obligation 
to pay the subscription amount of the warrants can be offset against any monies outstanding at the time of exercise under the 
Eurobond. The terms of the warrants are as follows:

• total warrants issued: 48,786,437;

• subscription price: 61.4925 US cents; and

• subscription period: 26 May 2014 to the later of 28 May 2018 or six calendar months after the repayment of the ABSA debt facility.

The warrants were measured at fair value at the date of grant as determined through the use of the Black‑Scholes technique. 
The fair value determined at the grant date of the warrants is recognised in the Group’s warrant reserve and is amortised as a 
finance cost over the life of the Series A Eurobond. 

The inputs into the Black‑Scholes model for the warrants issued in the year are as follows:
        2016 2015

Exercise price (cents)         61.49 —

Expected volatility        35.0% —

Expected subscription period       3 years —

Risk‑free interest rate        1.96% —

Fair‑value of warrants issued in the year (cents)      15.60 —

The calculation of the volatility of the share price was based on the Company’s daily closing share price over the historic period of 
the expected warrant life as at the date of grant.
 Group Company
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Warrant reserve    

Warrants issued the year      7,609 — 7,609 —

25 Borrowings
 Group Company
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

ABSA debt facility    

Capital amount      43,400 — — —

Finance cost to be amortised over the life of the loan   (10,763) — — —

ABSA debt facility at amortised cost     32,637 — — —

Eurobond    

Capital amount      30,000 — 30,000 —

Finance cost to be amortised over the life of the instrument    (7,860) — (7,860) —

Eurobond at amortised cost     22,140 — 22,140 —

Total      54,777 — 22,140 —

Non‑current liabilities      50,097 — 22,140 —

Current liabilities      4,680 — — —

Total liabilities      54,777 — 22,140 —

The ABSA debt facility carries a variable interest rate, based on LIBOR, which was 0.65% as at 30 June 2016, plus a weighted 
average margin of 2.66%. The effective interest rate is, in aggregate 9.60%. The facility is repayable in 18 quarterly instalments 
commencing 31 March 2017. 

The ABSA debt facility is secured by a first ranking general notarial bond, over all movable assets for a total capital amount of 
US$165.0 million.

The Eurobonds have a coupon rate of 8.00% per annum payable quarterly. The effective interest rate is, in aggregate 12.33%. 
The interest can be settled in cash or through the issue of ordinary shares at market value based on the volume‑weighted average 
price of the share for the 20 days preceding the interest calculation date. The bonds are repayable on the final maturity date, 
which is August 2022.

The Directors are of the opinion that the carrying value of borrowings approximates their fair value based on similar loan terms 
in the market.
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26 Rehabilitation provisions
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

At 1 July         3,078 2,821

Exchange difference        (425)  (254)

Opening balance restated for effect of foreign exchange     2,653 2,567

Increase in the year        442 511

Unwinding of discount on rehabilitation liability      211 —

At 30 June        3,306 3,078

Construction of the Project commenced in July 2014 causing environmental disturbances. The Group raised a provision for the 
rehabilitation of the environmental disturbances caused by the construction of the Project that has been capitalised as part of the 
cost of the asset. 

The environmental rehabilitation provision is based on current best practice and the current Environmental 
Management Programme.

Significant estimates and assumptions are made in determining the amount attributable to this rehabilitation provision. These 
deal with uncertainties such as the legal and regulatory framework, and timing and value of future costs. The Company estimates 
the cost of rehabilitation with reference to the rehabilitation activities contained in the Environmental Management Programme. 
In determining the amount attributable to the rehabilitation provision, management used the following assumptions:
 Group

        2016 2015

Discount rate        8.0% 8.0%

Lesotho inflation rate        4.7% 4.7%

Open pit life of mine        15 years 15 years

27 Other financial liabilities
 Group

        2016 2015 
Cash flow hedges        US$’000 US$’000

Forward foreign exchange contracts       470 2,438

Interest rate swaps        1,218 —

        1,688 2,438

The Group designated forward foreign currency exchange contracts as cash flow hedges. The risk being hedged is the volatility 
in the exchange rate of the Maloti, which is pegged to the Rand, against the US Dollar, the currency in which a majority of the 
funding made available for the Project is denominated.

The Group designated interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges. These interest rate swap contracts were entered into to mitigate 
the risk that variable interest rates pose to the company’s cash flow.

Timing profile of the nominal amount of the hedging instruments

Cash flow hedges
     Less than 6‑12 1‑2 2‑5 5‑10  
     6 months months years years years 
2016     US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Forward foreign exchange contracts    10,388 — — — —

Interest rate swaps     75 252 487 597 —

     Less than 6‑12 1‑2 2‑5 5‑10  
     6 months months years years years 
2015     US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Forward foreign exchange contracts    27,622 3,870 — — —
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27 Other financial liabilities continued

Hedge effectiveness

Cash flow hedges
        Through other Amount 
      Effective  Ineffective  comprehensive  reclassified  
      hedge loss hedge loss income to fixed assets 
2016      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Forward foreign exchange contracts     3,486 — (1,586) 5,072

Interest rate swaps      1,311 — 1,241 70

        Through other Amount 
      Effective  Ineffective  comprehensive  reclassified  
      hedge loss hedge loss income to fixed assets 
2015      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Forward foreign exchange contracts     4,368 — 2,438 1,930

Forward foreign exchange contracts

The Group formally assesses, at inception, and on an ongoing basis, whether the hedging contracts are highly effective in 
offsetting changes in the cash flows of the hedged item. The above table presents both the realised and unrealised foreign 
exchange losses on forward foreign currency exchange contracts for the year. The effective portion of the realised foreign 
exchange losses on matured contracts was reclassified as part of the cost of the Project, the hedged item. The effective portion of 
the unrealised foreign exchange losses on contracts that are still to mature was recognised in other comprehensive income. 

The average rate of the realised forward exchange contracts was ZAR11.92:US$1 (2015: ZAR10.97:US$1) and all matured 
forward exchange contracts were effective. The average rate of the unrealised forward exchange contracts is ZAR14.09:US$1 
(2015: ZAR11.49:US$1) and all forward exchange contracts that have not as yet matured are effective.

Interest rate swaps

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using floating‑to‑fixed interest rate swaps. The Group raises long‑term 
borrowings at floating rates and swaps a portion of floating rate for fixed rates.

The notional principal amounts of outstanding floating‑to‑fixed interest rate swap contracts designated as hedging instruments in 
cash flow interest rate hedges of variable rate debt at 30 June 2016 totalled US$21.7 million. 

At 30 June 2016, the floating rate was LIBOR. The effective portion of the realised interest rate swap losses was reclassified as part 
of the cost of the Project. The effective portion of the unrealised interest swaps that are still to mature was recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

28 Trade and other payables
 Group Company
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Trade payables      2,306 4,025 52 42

Tax and social security      245 74 — 16

Accruals      11,647 13,678 1,139 410

      14,198 17,777 1,191 468

The Directors consider there to be no material difference between the book values and fair values of trade and other payables.
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29 Provisions
 Group

        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

At 1 July         390 239

Exchange difference        (111) (14)

Opening balance restated for effect of foreign exchange     279 225

Reallocation        377 —

Raised in the year through profit or loss      (3) 43

Capitalised as part of the cost of the Project      (132) 122

At 30 June        521 390

Provisions relate mainly to leave pay due to staff.

30 Financial instruments

In common with other businesses, the Group and Company (collectively the Group) is exposed to risks that arise from its 
use of financial instruments. This note describes the Group’s objectives, policies and procedures for managing those risks and 
the methods used to measure them. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these 
financial statements.

The significant accounting policies regarding financial instruments are disclosed in note 1 and the critical accounting estimates 
and judgements are set out in note 2.

Principal financial instruments

The principal financial instruments used by the Group and Company are as follows:

• trade and other receivables;

• loans to subsidiaries;

• cash and cash equivalents;

• other financial liabilities; and

• trade and other payables.

The above financial instruments are classified in the following categories:
 Group Company
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Financial assets at amortised cost    

Loans receivable      2,816 — — —

Trade and other receivables     571 10,156 — 167

Loans to subsidiaries      — — 87,873 59,526

Cash and cash equivalents     10,282 17,628 3,339 12,344

      13,669 27,784 91,212 72,037

Financial liabilities at fair value through other comprehensive income    

Other financial liabilities      (1,688) (2,438) — —

Financial liabilities at amortised cost    

Borrowings      (54,777) — (22,140) —

Trade and other payables     (14,719) (18,167) (1,191) (468)

      (69,496) (18,167) (23,331) (468)

Due to their short‑term nature, the carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other 
payables approximates their fair value.
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30 Financial instruments continued

Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table sets out the Group’s financial liabilities measured at fair value by level within the fair value hierarchy:
  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
   
    2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 
    US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Other financial liabilities    — — 1,688 2,438 — —

There were no transfers between levels during the period.

The valuation techniques used in determining the fair value measurement of level 2 financial instruments are set out in the 
table below: 

Item Valuation approach and inputs used

Derivative through fair 
value through other 
comprehensive income 

The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined based on the forward 
exchange rates as at reporting date.

General objectives, policies and processes

The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group’s risk management objectives and policies and, while 
retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated part of the authority for designing and operating processes that ensure 
the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Group’s finance function. The Board retained full control over 
the Group’s past investments in quoted securities and associated derivative financial instruments. The Board receives reports 
from financial personnel through which it reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place and the appropriateness of the 
objectives and policies it sets. The risks to which the Group is exposed and the policies adopted by the Board have not changed 
significantly in the year.

The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce ongoing risk as far as possible without unduly affecting the 
Group’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises principally from the Group’s and Company’s trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents and loans 
to subsidiaries (Company). It is the risk that the counterparty fails to discharge its obligation in respect of the instrument. 

Loans to subsidiaries in the Company mostly relates to the funding of the Project and the Company expects to recoup these loans 
when the Projects starts to generate positive cash flows.

The maximum exposure to credit risk equals the carrying value of these items in the financial statements as shown below.
 Group Company
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015 
      US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Loans receivable      2,816 — — —

Trade and other receivables     571 10,156 — 167

Loans to subsidiaries      — — 87,873 59,526

Cash and cash equivalents     10,282 17,628 3,339 12,344

      13,669 27,784 91,212 72,037

Credit risk with cash and cash equivalents is reduced by placing funds with banks that have acceptable credit ratings and indicated 
government support where applicable.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Group’s and Company’s management of working capital and the amount of funding committed to 
the Project. It is a risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due. The Board 
manages this risk through monthly cash flow projections containing information regarding what the expected commitments will 
be per month as well as what the available funding is, before and after settlement of the monthly commitments. As at the year 
end, the Group has US$39 million remaining on the ABSA debt facility and a US$15 million Project over‑run standby facility also 
in the form of a Eurobond. Based on the cash flow projections the Directors are confident that existing cash resources and debt 
facilities are sufficient to complete the Project and to maintain other Group working cost through to production ramp up. 

The Group’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its liabilities when they become due. 
The principal liabilities of the Group and Company arise in respect of the ongoing operating costs, capital expenditure and trade 
and other payables. Trade and other payables are all payable within six months.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016
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Interest rate risk

The Group and the Company are exposed to interest rate risk in respect of surplus funds held on deposit and on long‑term 
borrowings entered into for the financing of the Project. The Company is also exposed to interest rate risk on loans to subsidiaries. 

The Group’s policy is to manage the risk associated with floating interest rates entering into floating‑to‑fixed interest rate swaps. 

Interest rate table

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held 
constant, of the Group and Company’s profit or loss before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and cash flows. 

There is no impact on the Company or Group’s equity.
 2016 2015
   
Group      Change in rate US$’000 Change in rate US$’000

US$ equivalent      ‑0.5% 227 ‑0.5% (89)

      ‑1.0% 454 ‑1.0% (177)

      ‑1.5% 681 ‑1.5% (266)

US$ equivalent      +0.5% (227) +0.5% 89

      +1.0% (454) +1.0% 177

      +1.5% (681) +1.5% 266

 2016 2015
   
Company      Change in rate US$’000 Change in rate US$’000

US$ equivalent      ‑0.5% (219) ‑0.5% (229)

      ‑1.0% (437) ‑1.0% (458)

      ‑1.5% (656) ‑1.5% (687)

US$ equivalent      +0.5% 219 +0.5% 229

      +1.0% 437 +1.0% 458

      +1.5% 656 +1.5% 687

Currency risk

The Group adopted a hedging strategy approved by the Board during the year to mitigate against currency risk. The Group 
designated forward foreign currency exchange contracts as cash flow hedges. The risk being hedged is the volatility in the Lesotho 
Maloti and US Dollar exchange rates affecting the total funding available for the Project.

As at 30 June 2016 the Group held no significant monetary assets or liabilities in currencies other than the functional currency 
of the operating units involved (2015: nil), other than a cash balance held in Pound Sterling equivalent to US$0.5 million 
(2015: US$5.3 million). If the Pound Sterling were to appreciate against the US Dollar by 1%, the cash balance would increase by 
US$6,012. Similarly if the Pound Sterling were to depreciate against the US Dollar by 1%, the cash balance would decrease by 
US$6,012.

Loans between companies that are members of the Group are made in the operating currency of the lending company. In all other 
respects, the policy for all Group companies is that they only trade in their principal operating currency, except in exceptional 
circumstances from time to time. Long‑term Group loans to South African and Botswana subsidiary companies are considered to 
be part of the net investment by the Group in those subsidiaries.

The Company is exposed to a number of different currency risks between the Rand, Maloti, US Dollar and Pula. 

The Group’s exposure of net monetary assets and liabilities by functional currency is as follows: 
 US$ Maloti Other Total
   
US$’000  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

Net foreign currency 
financial assets/(liabilities) (1,427) (395) (11,080) (6,063) (506) (345) (13,013) (6,803)
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30 Financial instruments continued

Currency risk continued

The following significant exchange rates applied against the US Dollar during the year:
 Average rate Balance sheet rate
   
      2016 2015 2016 2015

South African Rand      14.4926 11.4405 14.7737 12.2773

Lesotho Maloti      14.4926 11.4405 14.7737 12.2773

Botswana Pula      10.6395 9.3042 10.7880 9.8260

Pound Sterling      1.4819 1.5733 1.3394 1.5721

The Group’s expenses in Botswana, Lesotho and South Africa are incurred in Pula, Maloti, which is pegged to the Rand, and Rand 
respectively, so any weakening in the Pula, Maloti or Rand would result in a reduction in expenses in US Dollar terms, which would 
be to the Group’s advantage. There is an equivalent downside risk to the Group of strengthening in the Pula, Maloti or Rand. 

Capital

The Group considers its capital and reserves attributable to equity shareholders together with interest‑bearing borrowings to 
be the Group’s capital. In managing its capital, the Group’s primary long‑term objective is to provide a return for its equity 
shareholders through capital growth. Going forward the Group will seek to maintain a gearing ratio that balances risks and returns 
at an acceptable level and also to maintain a sufficient funding base to enable the Group to meet its working capital needs.

Details of the Group and Company capital are disclosed in the Group and Company Statement of Changes in Equity and in 
note 22.

There have been no other significant changes to the Group’s management objectives, policies and processes in the year nor 
has there been any change in what the Group considers to be capital.

31 Operating lease commitments
 Group Company
  
 Land and buildings Plant and equipment Land and buildings Plant and equipment
   
  2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 
  US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Within one year  132 235 — — 102 200 — —

Between one and two years 531 53 — — 521 — — —

Between two and five years — — — — — — — —

  663 288 — — 623 200 — —

There is no material difference between the fair value of these commitments shown and the values disclosed.

32 Post‑balance sheet events

On 9 September 2016 the Group was informed by Tango Mining Limited that it has not been able to meet the conditions of 
the sale agreement entered into on 9 July 2015 for the disposal of its Botswana operations. The Group classified its Botswana 
operations as a held for sale asset in the 2015 Annual Report. As the conditions to classify these assets as held for sale are no 
longer met, the Board decided to reclassify the Botswana operations to continuing operations. The effects of this reclassification 
are disclosed in note 21. 

The Directors are not aware of any other significant matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year, not 
otherwise dealt with in this report or the annual financial statements, that significantly affects the financial position of the 
Company or the results of its operations until the date of this report.

33 Capital commitments and contingencies

At 30 June 2015 the Group had contracted capital commitments of US$20.1 million (2015: US$47.4 million) relating to the 
Project. The Board approved the Project with a total capital budget of US$185.4 million before construction commenced in 
July 2014. 

34 Related‑party transactions

The Company had the following related party transactions during the year:
        2016 2015 
        US$’000 US$’000

Finance income received        6,441 2,935

Management fee income received       206 201

The Group provided various subordinations in respect of intra‑group debt to creditors of subsidiary companies.
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